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Tuesday, August 8, 2023
--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.


MR. MORAN:  Good morning, and welcome to the fourth-last day of the proceeding, if we continue to be on track.

Are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. STEVENS:  I have one, Commissioners.  Good morning, everybody.

As we embark on the final week, we thought that now might be a good time to raise with the Commissioners, with the Panel, Enbridge Gas's proposals -- or requests, I suppose -- in terms of minor modifications to the schedule, to address a couple of things that have arisen, really in terms of the process taking longer than was anticipated.

So, with reference to Procedural Order No. 6, which set out the schedule for the final steps, Enbridge Gas has three requests.  First, in relation to the undertakings from the oral hearing, we've been doing our best to answer those as we go along.  Last week was a busy week for undertakings, and we're still in the hearing this week, so we're going to be very challenged to answer everything by Monday the 14th, so we request that we be permitted to have until Friday August 18th to answer the undertakings.  Of course, we'll continue to provide the answers as they're ready, but we anticipate we might have difficulty getting all of them done before that date.

Secondly, in terms of written argument, we have two requests.  One, we are already working, and planning to work, as hard as we can to get the argument-in-chief done as quickly as we can, but, again, there is much less time before the end of the hearing and the schedule date for it to be filed.  We do think, though, that we would be able to complete our argument-in-chief by the end of next week, and so we are requesting a one-day extension from Thursday, August 17, to Friday, August 18, to file argument-in-chief.

MR. MORAN:  So, the same date as the undertaking response?

MR. STEVENS:  Correct.  And then, finally, considering the number of parties participating in this case, and the breadth of issues, and the level of engagement on all the issues, we're quite concerned that we're not going to be able to prepare reply argument within two weeks after intervenor argument comes in, and so we're requesting that we be provided with an extra week.

My friends may have suggestions about when their argument should be due, so I'm not phrasing it as a particular due date, but rather that there be a three-week interval between the intervenor argument and the Enbridge Gas reply argument.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  So, whatever the date ends up being, at least an extra week.  You are looking for an extra week for your reply argument?

MR. STEVENS:  That's right.  We're looking for three weeks after intervenor argument, rather than two weeks after intervenor argument.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  And I know that some intervenors are in the room or online.  Are there any comments that people want to make at this time?

MR. GARNER:  Mr. Chair, yes.  No, I understand my friend's issues.  I think we have similar ones and, myself personally, have a couple of Board ADRs that happen in between when our argument is due.

If the Panel were inclined to make the adjustments Enbridge has suggested, that, at a minimum, it seems to me, would put our argument due on the 15th rather than the 14th.  And, if that were the case, as much as I am not inclined to, I have a feeling I will inevitably be working that weekend in order to finish it.  So, given that that would be a Friday, what I am suggesting to you is it would be helpful, if not to my family, to making an argument, that that argument be due the Monday the week of the 18th.

MR. MORAN:  So Enbridge is proposing August 18th for their argument-in-chief and you are suggesting the following Monday be your responding argument?

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  Right now, I think our argument is due 14th September, and I would suggest the 18th of September.

MR. MORAN:  Oh, September.  Okay.  I was thinking August.

MR. GARNER:  I was hoping I wasn't going to have to do it in August.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  All right, I've got it.  All right.  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was going to suggest the exact same thing.

MR. MORAN:  September?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The Monday essentially, especially in light of the undertaking delays, I think that's a fair --


MR. MORAN:  And, sorry, remind me, that would be September the...?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think it's the 18th.

MR. MORAN:  The 18th.  Okay, any other submissions?  If any intervenors are following this through the transcript and want to add their two cents' worth by email to Board Staff, that will be fine, as well.

All right.  So we'll take this on and get back to you on it.  Any other preliminary matters?

MR. STEVENS:  Just one more thing, Commissioner Moran.  I am reminded by my colleagues that, should the intervenor argument be due on Monday, September 18, three weeks from then would actually be Thanksgiving Monday.  So I suppose we'd be requesting three weeks plus one day, in the expectation that nobody would be reading a reply argument while having their turkey dinner.

MR. MORAN:  Yes.  We don't want any turkey gravy on the submissions.  All right, thank you.

Okay.  There being no more preliminary matters, Mr. Stevens, I think we're ready to move to your panel 13 on the variance accounts.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much.  This morning's panel is here to speak about deferral and variance accounts.

The outstanding issues, as I understand it, are the establishment of three new accounts, called the VOLUVAR, the PREPVA, as well as the reestablishment of the short-term storage and other balancing services account.  And the other issues are around clearance of the balances in the accounting policy changes deferral account and the tax variance deferral account.

The members of today's panel, starting closest to you, are Ryan Small, technical manager, regulatory accounting; Jason Vinagre, manager, regulatory accounting; Robert Rutitis, supervisor in the finance group; Ben Ukonga, pension actuary with Mercer Canada; and then in the row behind is Gilmer Bashualdo-Hilario, manager, economic evaluation and forecast.

I believe some of the witnesses have been affirmed previously, but Mr. Rutitis and Mr. Ukonga [audio dropout] at this time.

MS. DUFF:  Gentlemen, I am just going to read the oath to be administered.  I'll start with Mr. Rutitis.

You are about to give evidence in this hearing.  This Panel is dependent on you telling us the truth, and the law requires you to do so.  Therefore, before you testify, I must ask you this:  Do you solemnly promise this panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

MR. RUTITIS:  I do.

MS. DUFF:  And do you understand that breaking that promise would be an offence under our law?

MR. RUTITIS:  I do.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Ukonga?

MR. UKONGA:  I do.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.
EGI PANEL 13 - VARIANCE ACCOUNTS (VOLUVAR, PREPVA) DEFERRAL DISPOSITIONS (AP CDA, TVDA)
Ryan Small,
Jason Vinagre,
Gilmer Bashualdo-Hilario, Previously Affirmed;

Robert Rutitis,
Ben Ukonga, Affirmed.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Several weeks ago, we sent an email to all parties proposing that Mr. Ukonga be qualified as an expert in pension plan design administration and reporting.  Mr. Ukonga's CV is filed at Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 6, and I do not believe that there have been any objections raised or registered to having Mr. Ukonga be qualified as an expert.  So, with that, we're asking the Commissioners that he be so qualified.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  On the basis of no objections to his expertise to speak as offered, we're prepared to accept him as an expert.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  So, this panel does have some brief examination-in-chief.  Just as a starting matter, last week, we circulated a two-page document titled "Timeline of pension and OPEB actuarial gains/losses and prior service costs."  Mr. Richler, would we be able to mark that as an exhibit?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes, that will be Exhibit K15.1.
EXHIBIT K15.1:  TWO-PAGE DOCUMENT TITLED "TIMELINE OF PENSION AND OPEB ACTUARIAL GAINS/LOSSES AND PRIOR SERVICE COSTS."
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Stevens:


MR. STEVENS:  I'm going to start my questions with you, Mr. Small.  I understand that last week Enbridge Gas filed an updated interrogatory response, seeking to have an additional deferral account approved through this proceeding, something that, as Enbridge explained, ought to have been proposed through the settlement process but was not.  Can you provide some details and expand on that, please, Mr. Small?

MR. SMALL:  Yes, I can.  Angela, could you bring up -- or Ms. Monforton, sorry, could you bring up the updated Exhibit I.9.1-SEC-220, and then I'll provide a brief synopsis.

So this interrogatory response refers to deferral accounts that Enbridge Gas had proposed to continue or to harmonize.  And the update that was made was to reflect the continued need for the Union rate zones, short-term storage, and other balancing services deferral account on an interim basis.  As part of the settlement proposal, parties agreed that certain existing deferral accounts would continue while some of the proposed harmonized accounts would be deferred until such time as issues related to the common gas supply plan and common reference price could be determined in subsequent phases of the proceeding.

In identifying existing accounts that needed to continue, the company inadvertently failed to include or identify the short-term, the Union rate zone short-term storage and other balancing services deferral account.  This account is utilized to capture any variance in actual short-term storage, revenues versus the amount included in rates that results from the sale of excess utility storage space.

In Enbridge's original proposal, there was no excess utility storage space envisioned under a common gas supply plan because all storage space would be used to serve all Enbridge Gas needs.  But, given that the settlement defers the implementation of the harmonized gas supply plan, Enbridge Gas expects there still will be some excess utility storage space to be utilized in the interim period until the outcomes of the harmonized gas supply plan and common reference price are decided and eventually implemented in subsequent phases.  So, as such, maintaining the Enbridge Gas -- or, sorry, the Union rate zone short-term storage and other balancing services deferral account will allow for the continued tracking of excess utility storage revenues that can be shared between ratepayer -- that will be shared to the benefit of ratepayers during this interim period.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Turning to you, Mr. Vinagre, Exhibit K15.1 was circulated last week and provides sort of a visual representation of important events that are relevant to the Union pension receivable amount in the CDA.  I understand that you'd like to provide some comments to explain what's on, what's on this exhibit and provide some context for the discussion today about this portion of the AP CDA.

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Good morning, Commissioners, and good morning, everyone.  In respect of the accounting policy changes deferral account, referred to as the AP CDA, and the balances brought forward for the disposition in this proceeding, throughout the technical conference it was apparent that there has been confusion over the balance pertaining to the Union rate zone pre 2017 pension actuarial gains and losses.  Enbridge Gas provided in advance of this hearing a submission that is intended to summarize the history of the amounts, the treatment of the amounts for the timeline, and Enbridge Gas' proposal to dispose of the balance brought forward through the AP CDA.

So referring to Exhibit K15.1, in the first column, pre-merger, prior to the merger of Spectra and Enbridge, both EGD and Union incurred pension actuarial gains and losses in a similar manner.  The disposition or recovery of these amounts occurs over time, through annual accrual-based pension expense.  Amortizing or drawing down these amounts annually in accordance with US GAAP results in a natural smoothing mechanism that is intended to mitigate any annual volatility.

The residual balances that have existed at any point in time on EGD's or Union's balance sheets represent incurred costs or credits that have not yet been reflected in rates.  Over time, the accrual-based pension costs that ratepayers have paid for theoretically should equal the cash basis for which the utility has funded the plans on.

Moving on to the second column, noted as pre-amalgamation, at the date of the merger, Enbridge Inc. reflected the purchase of the net assets and liabilities of Spectra and its subsidiaries, which included Union.  Under US GAAP, the purchase transaction resulted in a new pension basis at Enbridge Inc. for the acquired pension plans, inclusive of Union.  This new basis reset the unamortized balance of the pre-merger actual gains and losses to nil and excludes the future drawdown of this balance.  This transaction within Enbridge Inc. did not impact Union as a standalone, and Union continued to account for its pension plans in a similar manner, consistent with historical practice.

Now, prior to the amalgamation of EGD and Union, the reset to nil of the unamortized pre-merger gains and losses was reassessed by Enbridge Inc. and ultimately recorded as an acquired asset.  Enbridge Inc. recognized the balances as a receivable, reflecting the underlying treatment by Union throughout this period.  This reassessment and the impacts to Enbridge Inc.'s financial statements was accepted by the company's external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, and reflected in Enbridge Inc.'s December 31, 2018 external unaudited financial statements.  This was appropriate as it reflected the ongoing regulatory and recoverable nature of the balances as I noted earlier.

With regard to the January 1st, 2019 amalgamation and subsequently through the deferred rebasing period, upon amalgamation, EGI go was acquired under US GAAP to adopt and reflect the accounting policy change that had previously been recognized by its parent, Enbridge Inc.  EGD's balances were unaltered in any way.

EGI recognized the pre-merger unamortized net losses of Union within the AP CDA as a result of this accounting policy change.  Inclusion of this balance in the AP CDA and subsequent annual amortization or drawdown nullified the revenue requirement impact that would have existed absent the amortization within the new pension expense basis.  Absent the amalgamation, Union would have continued to collect this receivable over time.  The amalgamation and resulting pushdown accounting meant that Union or Enbridge Gas now had to either seek recovery immediately, or otherwise record the receivable as a separate deferral balance and seek recovery at another time.  The choice was made to record the balance in the AP CDA with continued amortization or drawdown to the balance, in order to bring the balance forward at rebasing and allow for the revenue requirement impacts to be mitigated during the deferred rebasing period.

The APCA balance has been drawn down throughout the deferred rebasing period in a manner that was identical to the pre-amalgamation treatment.  Finally with regard to the last column, whereas rebasing is part of this proceeding, as of 2024 the pension expense forecast of EGI that is to be included in base rates reflects the new basis required to be adopted at amalgamation.  This excludes the amortization of the pre-merger actuarial gains and losses of Union.  EGI's rebasing proposal is to recover the remainder of the APCA from ratepayers separately.  The balance continues to represent net incurred actual gains and losses and past service costs not yet reflected in rates.  EGI requires approval to recover the balances either a one-time adjustment in the test year or in another appropriate manner.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Finally, within this proceeding, Enbridge Gas is proposing a new volume variance account.  Mr. Bashualdo-Hilario, I understand that you would like to provide a little bit of context and explanation about this request before we proceed with cross-examination.

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.

Good morning, Commissioners, good morning, everyone.

Enbridge Gas is proposing to establish a single variance account, VOLUVAR, to record the revenue impact exclusive of gas cost of the volumetric variance resulting from the difference between actual and forecasted average use per customer embedded in the general service rate classes.

Enbridge Gas currently has two revenue stabilization mechanisms in place.  The average use throughout the variance account or ATUVA used in the EGD rate zone since 2008, and the normalized average consumption, NAC deferral account, used in the Union rate zone since 2014 and was preceded by the average use, AU deferral account, from 2008 to 2012.

These two accounts function similarly, and their purpose is to protect the customer and Enbridge.

These accounts track gas consumption variances resulting from DSM programs, government policies like carbon tax and future energy transition, building code, among other factors.

In the case of the DSM, these accounts replace the need for a separate loss revenue adjustment mechanism, LRAM, for the general service rate classes.

The proposed VOLUVAR will replace the existing ATUVA and NAC deferral accounts, and essentially replicates the current function of those two accounts, except that it will also include the revenue variance due to weather, reducing risk associated with year-over-year weather volatility in a revenue-neutral manner for both customers and Enbridge Gas.

If I can ask Ms. Monforton to pull up JT3.27, please?  If we could go to page 2?

As we can see in table 1 of this response, historically over the last nine years, the revenue variance due to weather varies each year, but has been roughly symmetrical over this period of time -- colder versus warmer actual weather, relative to OEB-approved normal.

Enbridge's proposal to include weather is consistent with this proposal to implement the straight fixed variable rate design, or SFVD.

The VOLUVAR is proposed to be in place from 2024 until such time as the SFVD is approved and implemented.

In the event that the OEB does not approve the VOLUVAR as proposed, Enbridge Gas requests approval of the same account, excluding the weather piece, until the SFVD is approved and in effect.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, very much.  With that, the witnesses are ready for questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  Okay, SEC, Mr. Rubenstein, are you ready to proceed?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think Mr. Ladanyi has asked to field a few questions from the previous panel.  And he has asked to go ahead, so that's fine with me.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Mr. Ladanyi?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I just have a few questions, and they stem from my questioning of panel 12 last week.  It seems the camera never seems to find me, but I don't know what I have to do to be found by the camera.  Anyway.

My name is Tom Ladanyi.  I'm a consultant representing Energy Probe.  On Thursday, when I asked written questions of panel 12, Enbridge counsel, Mr. Stevens, said that I should put these questions to you, since you will have better answers to these questions.

Please turn to where I left off with panel 12, witnesses, which is Exhibit 9, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 1, page 1. And that is the table showing deferral and variance accounts.  That's right.

Now, I asked the previous panel what exactly was shown on line 13.  And now, can you tell us what is shown on line 13?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Line 13 represents the cumulative impact of the variance between accelerated CCA and regular CCA, and isolated to integration capital throughout the period, 2020 through 2023 forecast.

MR. LADANYI:  Is that line in what I would call in units of revenue requirement dollars?

MR. VINAGRE:  No, they are not equivalent of revenue requirement.  They are equivalent to the variance between accelerated CCA and regular CCA, grossed up for tax purposes.

MR. LADANYI:  Could you turn to Exhibit I.9.2-Staff-261, attachment 1, page 1?  Thank you.  Is the $3,736,257 credit shown on line 18, column C, you can see it right at the bottom, the $3.7 million credit we see in Exhibit 9, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 1, line 9 we just looked at; is that right?  Column A.

MR. VINAGRE:  Apologies.  Could we go back to that exhibit, if we could, please?

MR. LADANYI:  Sure, of course.  Please, yes.  So, yes, we are back to that page.  And you can see on line 13, okay -- and then on line 9, you see 3.7?  Do you see line 9?

Is that the same 3.7 that we see on the Board Staff-261?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is correct.

MR. LADANYI:  Now I notice that this table and also some of the other evidence related to this has not been updated once you filed your capital update.

Are the numbers in this table still correct?  Or should they be updated?

MR. VINAGRE:  The numbers are accurate from between actuals for 2020 through 2022, I believe, subject to check.  But there is an update for 2023 forecast, so this does not represent the most current balance.

MR. LADANYI:  So will you undertake to file updated response to Board Staff 261 in Exhibit 9, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 1, so we can have the latest numbers?

MR. STEVENS:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. RICHLER:  That's J15.1.
UNDERTAKING J15.1:  TO FILE UPDATED RESPONSE TO BOARD STAFF-261 IN EXHIBIT 9, TAB 2, SCHEDULE 1, ATTACHMENT 1.


MR. LADANYI:  15.1?  Thank you.  Now can you turn to Exhibit 1, tab 9, schedule 1, paragraph 44, which starts on page 20?  Actually, the pages seem to be misnumbered.  The pages on top of the page numbers are different than the bottom but, perhaps -- anyway.

Paragraph 44, that's what I am looking for, and that continues on to the next page.

Now, in paragraph 44, you are mentioning an associated impact reflected in the 2024 test-year revenue requirement of $28 million.

Now can we go to the next page, please?  And I would like to go up some more, please.  The other way.  Sorry.  Okay, here we are, the numbers:  So we see the table, and we see the net book value, $119 million.  And does the $119 million give rise to the $28 million revenue-requirement increase that you are asking for, for 2024?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  So the question I put to the previous panel, are you proposing that if the OEB allows you $119 million into 2024 opening rate base, you will give ratepayers $5 million credit recorded in TVDA for integration capital?  Or exactly what are you proposing?  Is this a quid pro quo, as I explained last time?  Is this a trade that you are offering?

MR. VINAGRE:  As far as our understanding, yes, that's correct.  We would refund the TVDA balance as proposed.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  I hope that Mr. Stevens will address this in more detail in argument-in-chief.

MR. STEVENS:  It is something that will be addressed in argument in-chief, in terms of what Enbridge's proposal is for the balance in the TVDA.  And, as you've heard from the witnesses, Enbridge's proposal is dependent on the OEB's determination of the treatment of the integration capital.

You've heard us talk about how benefits follow the costs, so that's what we'd be saying.  Should the assets be in rate base, then the CCA benefits would flow to ratepayers.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  I prepared a compendium for this panel.  I was hoping we could get that marked.

MR. RICHLER:  The SEC compendium will be K15.2.
EXHIBIT K15.2:  SEC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 13.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Panel, I'd like to start with the volume variance account request.

If we can turn to page 2 of the compendium, the bit discussed in your examination-in‑chief.  If we go down to paragraph 86, you describe the purpose of the account and, as I understand it, it's to record revenue, excluding gas costs, of the volume forecast variance resulting from average use per customer and the weather experienced during the year for general service classes.  Do I have that right?

MR. UKONGA:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand, and you did mention this in your opening comments, currently, the Enbridge rate zone has what's called the average use true-up variance account, the TUVA account, and the Union rate zone has the normalized average consumption account, the NAC account, and both of those would true-up normalized average use for general service customers.

So the differences in average use built into rates and actual average use per customer are captured, but they are weather normalized.  Correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, currently, for Union and the Enbridge rate zone, Enbridge does not bear the risk of general service customers' average use.  Correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is that the NAC and the ATUVA are calculated slightly differently.  Do I have that right?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, in this application, the change, in addition to the single account you're seeking, it's that Enbridge will not now bear the risk of general services customers' average use, including as a result of weather.  Correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why the change now?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  The change we are proposing only differs in the weather variance inclusion on the VOLUVAR.  In the average use ATUVA and in the NAC deferral, the weather was not a variable to be included.

As I mentioned in my statement -- if we could go to back to JT3.27, table 1, if you can, Ms. Monforton -- I indicated in table 1 that the weather over those nine years in the table has behaved roughly in a symmetrical manner and the VOLUVAR is proposing to give full protection to both customers and Enbridge.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm not sure that answers the question.  What exactly is the current situation that is problem for the company and that you are requiring this change to the account going forward?

I understand that the impact may be symmetrical, historically, but I'm just trying to understand what has changed that requires this protection.

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  The VOLUVAR is a proposal that works in conjunction with the straight fixed variable with demand proposal, so it will help us transition -- in the case that the Board approves that proposal -- transition to that new rate design.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, in phase, I think it's phase 3 now, if the Board doesn't approve the straight fixed variable rate design approach, do you still propose to have this account?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  As I indicated in my opening statement, if the Board considers not approving the VOLUVAR as proposed, we are requesting the same account without the weather piece.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, that's not my question.  If, in phase 3, as I understood, you are saying we are including the weather now because of the transition mechanism to get to this straight fixed variable are variable rate design.  Now imagine, in phase 3, the Board doesn't approve that.  Are you still going to maintain the volume variance account as proposed in phase 1?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Why?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Because, currently, we have the two variance accounts in place that have been approved and worked since 2008, and we considered that, going forward, we want to have that similar deferral account.

I will let some of my panel members, if they want or need to, add additional comment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, sorry, let me just clarify the questions.  Maybe I wasn't clear.  I understand you want a harmonized average use true-up, but I was referring to the additional component you are seeking in this application, which is the protection with respect to weather.  And my question is:  If the Board, in phase 3, doesn't accept the straight fixed variable proposal, are you still going to want to continue the volume variance account, as you are proposing in this phase, until the next rebasing application, presumably?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Let me confer for a second.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Yes, we do.  Because the weather is largely variable, and we believe that the weather will continue behaving in a similar manner and we want to provide protection to both the company and the ratepayer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so the, when you say this is a transition mechanism until you get to rate fixed variable rate design, it may be partially true, but, if there is no straight fixed variable rate design, you still want the account.  Correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so what Enbridge wants, as I understand, is that it will bear no risk in any way to general service customers' change in average use.  Correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, there's been a lot of discussion in this proceeding about how energy transition is likely going to see reduced average use of customers over time, as they transition to electricity, efficiency of equipment, and so on.  And so I would be correct that that is ultimately going to, based on the current rate design, reduce the amount that would be paid to Enbridge.  Correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Let me confer, please.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Could you rephrase your question, please.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  We've discussed a lot in this proceeding, as you can imagine, and if you've been listening, to the energy transition, and that there's going to be expectation of reduced volumes as customers transition some of their appliances to electricity, their high-efficiency natural gas-burning equipment.  All of these things are going to reduce natural gas consumption over time.  Correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that, ultimately, based on your current design, is going to reduce the revenue to Enbridge.  Correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  One second, please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Not necessarily, because we have the average use as part of the Y factor to adjust rates in every year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And it's because of the average use that they wouldn't reduce revenues.  Correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you would agree with me that just the simple act of continuing the current average use, or the normalized average consumption variance account concept increases the value and reduces the risk to the company, correct?  The value of that account in reducing risk is increasing over time, correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  One second, please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Mr. Rubenstein, please forgive me.  Could you repeat one more time your question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I had a feeling you were going to ask that.  If average use is expected to decline over time because of the energy transition we've talked about, then you'd agree with me that, the current NAC and ATUVA methodologies, the value of that to the company in reducing risk increases?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Not necessarily.  Sorry, I'll let my colleague to answer.

MR. SMALL:  I think what we were going to say is that, to the extent we're still going to update the [audio dropout] for rate-setting purposes, average use, there is still risk for both the share -- both the company and ratepayers that that average use adjustment is right.  So we could, depending on your methodology for adjusting rates for average use, we could assume volumes are going to go down faster than what they actually do, in which case having the deferral account would provide a credit back to ratepayers, whereas, if, you know, the assumption or the methodology for determining the average use adjustment over -- or underestimates the average use decline, then it would allow protection for the company to recover amounts that weren't there.

So I think -- I don't know if it changes the level of risk.  It just -- it might put a bigger emphasis on the methodology used for determining what the average use adjustment is, I would say, but I think it still protects both the ratepayer and the company for deviations in what your average use [audio dropout] change is expected to be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Could I ask you to turn to page 4 of the compendium.  Now, you filed a natural gas volume forecasting benchmarking study prepared by Guidehouse; do I have that correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As part of that -- maybe we can go to, flip to, page 10.  Sorry, no.  My apologies, page 7 or pages 6 and 7 -- I apologize.  At page 6, if we can scroll down, one of the sections is the revenue stability and deferral account section.  As I understand, there are a lot of things that are benchmarked in this study overall, and it they've benchmarked, I believe, 10 peer utilities, do I have that -- Guidehouse picked 10 utilities?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct, 10.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you would agree with me that the existing NAC and ATUVA, as well as the proposed volume variance accounts are considered revenue stability deferral accounts?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we flip to the next page and go down to table 3-14, what we see here is the table shows for each of the peer utilities the name of the revenue stability, the approach, and then a column that says if the mechanism addresses weather-based revenue volatility; do you see that?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I count it, of the 10 utilities that are the peer utilities, four explicitly do and I believe five do it implicitly, correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  I think it's four.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm sorry?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  About half of the utilities, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, as I read it, four have a mechanism that addresses weather-based revenue volatility explicitly, five implicitly, and one does not --


MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- does that sound right?  And then, as I understand, the difference between when they use the term "explicitly" or "implicitly", is that, for implicitly, the true-up on average use includes weather but is contained within a much broader true-up mechanism that is specific to the rate structure and the rate plan those utilities are on; does that sound like a fair...

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  That's fair.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you'd agree with me that the volume variance account approach would be an explicit mechanism?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what are you asking the OEB to draw from these results, that presumably many of these utilities have this mechanism, these sorts of mechanisms?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  We are asking for full protection to both company and the ratepayers.  Sometimes, the weather behaves very drastically, such as what we experienced in 2014, for instance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  I'm going to just correct you.  I think maybe you misunderstand my question.  I'm asking what you want the Board to draw from the results of the benchmarking study.  Is it that many utilities have these mechanisms and so should Enbridge?  Is that what you're asking the OEB to draw?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Let me confer for a second.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  The intention of this study is to find out what common practice in terms of rate stability or revenue stability mechanism exists in the industry, and we found that out of the -- or perhaps all of the peer's company that were reviewed, they all use some forms of rate stabilization, and, as indicated, about half of them includes weather in this mechanism.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, maybe we can go to page 7 and we can scroll down to the text.  I want to look at what it says in the second paragraph.  It says:
"Although bilateral in nature, the protection offered by these mechanisms is not always symmetric:  Under-collection variance recovery is capped for utilities B, C, E, and G.  In some cases, the cap is set as an absolute value, but in others it is determined in relation to the utility's overall approved rate of return or projected DSM achievement."

Do you see that?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I take it four of the nine mechanisms that [audio dropout] described are asymmetrical in favour of customers, correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  It says there, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand, the Enbridge volume variance account proposal is symmetrical?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, if four out of the nine mechanisms are symmetrical in favour of customers and one utility doesn't have a mechanism like that, that means five of the 10 utilities, or half, do not have a symmetrical mechanism like the volume variance account to protect the utility from impacts of average use from weather, correct?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  If I can add a comment --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, sorry, am I right?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Partially.  If we look at closely to utility B, where there is a description, short description on how this cap works, it indicates that about 3 percent or there is a cap of 3 percent recovery to be done in the first year and the remaining in the following.  So, really, it's not a cap; it is more a phasing type of mechanism.  But, aside that, that's what we are proposing.  We want the weather piece in our variance account.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I would like to move on to now discuss the accounting policies, changes to deferral accounts or what I will just refer as the AP CDA.  And maybe we can start at page 13 of the compendium?

Now my first question is I believe in -- it would be J15.1, you were asked to update a table, by Mr. Ladanyi, with respect to all the accounts.  Did I have that correct?

MR. STEVENS:  My understanding, Mr. Rubenstein, is that we were updating the portions of the table that related to the tax variance deferral account.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  That's fine with me.  I just want to take a look at this table, right here.  And this shows all the various components of the AP CDA; do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, if you go down to the bottom, line 19, the cumulative total, you are seeking to collect from customers a total of $142.2 million?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want to focus on line 15, which is the pension and OPEB unamortized pre-2017 pension actuarial losses line.  Do you see that?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is by far the single largest item.  Correct?


MR. VINAGRE:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you are seeking to collect from customers $155.2 million?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now these unamortized pension actuarial losses, as I understand it, reflect losses arising from changes in the actuarial assumptions used to value the pension -- Union's pension obligations, pre-February 27, 2017?  Do I have that right?  Is that a fair, high-level summary for what those amounts are?

MR. UKONGA:  Yes.  But in addition to changes in economic assumptions, also experience of the plans.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the losses up until February 27, 2017, that date is specific because it was the date of the merger of Enbridge and -- Enbridge Inc. and Spectra Energy.  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want to just make sure I understand the timeline of events, so I can better understand what is happening.  So maybe the best way is to go through this all, chronologically.  And maybe if we could start at page 18 of the compendium.

As I understand, this is a -- 18, and then on to page 19 -- this is a press release issued by Enbridge Inc. and Spectra Energy dated September 6, 2016.  Do you see that?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it announces the merger of Enbridge Inc. and Spectra?  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And at the time, Enbridge Gas Distribution was a subsidiary of Enbridge Inc., and Union Gas was a subsidiary of Spectra Energy?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, we see this in the second paragraph, the terms of the agreement were that Spectra shareholders were going to receive 0.984 in Enbridge stock?  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is what it says, yes.  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that, as I understand based on the -- that was valued at $40.33 per Spectra Energy share?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is what it states.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that was an 11.5 per cent premium over the closing price of Spectra's stocks at the time.  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  That what is it stays, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, while the deal was called a merger, you would agree with, really, an acquisition of Spectra Energy by Enbridge Inc.  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  I believe in the press release it is articulated correctly as far as the transaction was concerned.  Ultimately, Enbridge Inc. was considered the acquiring entity but, for all intents and purposes, our understanding is it was described as a merger.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I understand how it is described.  But actually, for all intents and purposes, it is actually an acquisition.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  I am not sure that anyone of us on the panel can substantiate that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, maybe we can go to K15.1, of your own, and move to the second page of your own materials.

If we go to footnote 1, and we just read there, even you put "merger" in quotations.  Do you see that?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, that was intended to ensure that, going forward, we could speak to merger throughout the rest of the document as needed, but regarding Spectra-Enbridge.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you would agree with me, generally speaking, when negotiating such a deal -- the Spectra and Enbridge Inc., which was a friendly transaction, as I understand -- both sides have a chance, they are looking at each other's books and operations, correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  One moment, please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. SMALL:  I think we would first caveat that none of us on the panel are involved in merger acquisitions.  But what you propose sounds reasonable, that both sides would be looking to benefit from the transaction.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And they would be looking at the assets of the business, considering the revenue streams, contracts and essentially how much could be generated from the lines of business.  They have to value what is going to be paid, correct?

MR. SMALL:  Again, that sounds reasonable.  But we don't have any experience in being party to those, like, the actual people doing the analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you would agree with me that a transaction of this magnitude, they have teams of bankers, lawyers, accountants advising them, each side?

MR. SMALL:  Again, that sounds reasonable.  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  If I may, Mr. Rubenstein, I am not sure that this witness panel can add any particular value to your propositions, that -- I mean they can agree that the propositions sound reasonable.  But they are really not speaking from any specific basis of knowledge.

As Mr. Small said, none of these witnesses were specifically involved at the EI-Spectra level with the transaction as it happened in and before 2017.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask another question, and then maybe I will ask for an undertaking:  Undertake to tell me if their comments were incorrect, if that is maybe the better way to go about doing it.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  I mean, please, ask your question, and we will see what we can say.  I just don't want it to be taken that these witnesses are speaking authoritatively as to what happened on transactions that didn't specifically involve them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so you would agree with me that, in terms of getting an understanding of each other's businesses and their books, they would understand the impact of accounting rules.  Correct? - how that would -- the impact of accounting rules on the transaction, what that would mean.  Fair?

MR. SMALL:  Again, that sounds fair -- from the merger of those two entities?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. SMALL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, Mr. Stevens, if you want to take an undertaking to have those who have better knowledge review the transcript and tell me if I am off base here?

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  I mean, is there a specific question in there, Mr. Rubenstein?  At a high level, I am sure the answer will come back that the parties had a general understanding and looked into one another's affairs and balance sheets, et cetera, and had a general understanding of accounting rules.

But if you are driving at a particular accounting rule and a particular circumstance, I think that's a different question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Not at this moment -- I am just asking -- set the context of a general [audio dropout].


MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps what we will propose to do is take all of the witnesses' answers, subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine.

Now as I understand at the time -- at this time -- these Union Gas unamortized actual pension losses were recorded in Union's and in Spectra Energy's financial statement as "accumulated in other comprehensive income."  Do I have that right?  This is right before the merger.

MR. VINAGRE:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, the transaction closed on February 27, 2017.  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now as I understand, Enbridge Inc. and Spectra, as well as Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union Gas, use US GAAP.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, can we turn to page 37.  And this is an accounting memo dated May 16, 2019.  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think you are one of the co-authors of that memo?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And could we go to page 40 of the compendium, where it discusses this issue.  Before we dig into exactly what it says, am I correct that, since Enbridge Inc. and Spectra were on US GAAP, they were required to follow Accounting Standards Codification, ASC, rules?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand, as a result of those rules, since the pre-2017 unamortized actual gains and losses were in Union's accumulated and other income, Enbridge Inc. was required to write them off upon the closing of the transaction.  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  One moment please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. VINAGRE:  Apologies, Mr. Rubenstein.  Could you repeat that one more time, sorry?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  As I understand a result of certain ASC rules, since the pre‑2017 unamortized actual gains and losses were in Union's accumulated and other income, Enbridge Inc. was required to write them off upon closing of the transaction.

MR. VINAGRE:  Enbridge Inc. was required, at the time of the merger, to record its purchase price transaction, which ultimately resets the pension expense basis at the time of the merger.  And this would have included amounts of Union that were sitting in AOCI at the time.  But ASC 805, business combinations, does not in detail contemplate ASC 980 and rate-regulated accounting and, in respect of their purchase price transaction, required further analysis to identify all applicable assets and liabilities.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's read what it says on page 40, right at the top:
"Upon the Enbridge Inc. acquisition of UGL", that's Union, "through the Spectra merger, EI eliminated previously incurred losses of UGL, $250 million gross, $185 million of net deferred taxes, that resided in other comprehensive income.  As part of the purchase price adjustment, the amounts were written off, was ultimately included in the goodwill balance.  Recognize this is because EI did not recognize an identifiable asset to allocate purchase price and since UGL did not recognize as a regulatory asset."

Do you see that?

MR. VINAGRE:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so what then happened was, based on the ASC rules, or at least how they interpreted them at the time, Enbridge wrote those off to goodwill, which, as we know, is not recoverable in rates.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is partially correct.  I don't believe it's fair to characterize it as that, as Enbridge Inc., in failing to recognize the nature and -- the recoverable nature of the balance in AOCI for Union balances, failed to recognize that amount as a regulatory asset that is subject to recovery and future rates upon approval.  So, yes, this is the transaction that did occur at that time, however.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as you would agree, goodwill is not recoverable in rates?

MR. VINAGRE:  Goodwill is not recoverable in rates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as we see below, that sets out the rationale for the thinking, I guess, at least at the time, that talks about ASC 805 and ASC 715.  Do you see that?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the merger between Enbridge Inc. and Spectra required, based on accounting rules, or at least their understanding, that you had to write those off at the time.

MR. VINAGRE:  At that time, that was Enbridge Inc.'s analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  While these ASC rules are maybe not familiar to myself, and to some others, they would be familiar to Enbridge and Spectra.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  One moment, please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. VINAGRE:  Apologies, Mr. Rubenstein.  I think you were asking whether, at the Enbridge Inc. and Spectra level, they would have knowledge of this.  That is correct, from a US GAAP and ASC 805 perspective; however, I think that further analysis at their level was required to truly understand the nature of the balances on the utilities' books.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, we'll get to what happens a couple of years later, but, at the time, you would agree with me that Enbridge Inc., Spectra, they are very large entities.  They have a lot of knowledge of US GAAP.  They are undergoing this transaction.  They have teams of accountants and lawyers.  They are aware of the implications of the transaction and they are aware of ASC 805 business combinations and what that means, the implications?

MR. VINAGRE:  I would expect that is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And you would agree with me that they would have considered, either explicitly or this would be included -- it would have been considered either explicitly or implicitly by Enbridge and Spectra when they negotiated the transaction, the effect of accounting rules.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  I think, as was noted earlier, it would be reasonable to assume, but speculative on our nature as not being part of those transactions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I don't know if I need an undertaking to ask if they were aware of ASC 805 and the implications of that when entering into the agreement and negotiating the agreement.  If my friend want to give it, that's fine but it seems [audio dropout] I would have thought.

MR. STEVENS:  It strikes me, Mr. Rubenstein, that there is a different question as between general understanding by sophisticated parties who understand accounting rules and were presumably turning their mind to myriad items related to a very large transaction, versus asking whether those parties specifically turned their mind to specific instruments in the specific context of this specific pension receivable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, that wasn't my question; that will be my next question.  But ASC 805 is the general accounting rules regarding -- as I understand, US GAAP rules regarding business combinations.  Correct?

MR. STEVENS:  I think the witnesses have agreed that, as I characterized it, these would be sophisticated parties engaging in this transaction, and they can be assumed to have general understanding of the surrounding rules.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can we agree, then, that the previously unrecognized prior service costs and the gains and losses, the actuarial gains and losses of an acquired company that are included in other comprehensive income, that they would have to be eliminated for financial reporting purposes, they would have been aware of?  Those are the rules.

MR. VINAGRE:  One moment, Mr. Rubenstein, please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. VINAGRE:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.  I think you are correct in assuming that, yes, they would be familiar with the required transactions under ASC 805 business combinations and, fundamentally, the resulting implications, at an Enbridge Inc. level.  However, I think there were also, at the time, differences in treatment between Enbridge Inc. and Spectra and their subsidiaries and, in this context, Union, as a subsidiary of Spectra, was applying ASC 980 rate‑regulated accounting in a manner that, as I noted earlier, is not inherently apparent in the ASC 805 business combination standard.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we agree that they know the rules.  Can we also agree that they knew that Union Gas' unamortized actual pension losses met the definition of those rules and thus would have had to be written off?

MR. VINAGRE:  No, actually, we do not agree with that.  As we began the work for Amalco, if you will, for the amalgamation work in preparing for the amalgamation, it was clearly identified that, at the Enbridge Inc. level, they failed to recognize the substance and nature of these balances and the regulatory and recoverable nature of them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, that's a different question.  They didn't, as I understand.  What you're referring to is they didn't recognize that they should have treated it, they could have treated it, differently.  My question is:  Based on what they knew at the time and knowing the rules at the time of the merger of or right before the merger, Enbridge Inc. and Spectra Energy knew that Union Gas' unamortized actual pension losses met the definition that would have required them to be written off?  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Met the definition in the sense that they were included in AOCI?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, and they would have to be written off.

MR. VINAGRE:  They would have to be reset to nil.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And they'd have to be written off to goodwill, which is not recoverable, correct?

MR. RUTITIS:  I'm not sure that I agree with your characterization of being written off to goodwill.  So, this balance wasn't identified as a net asset in the acquisition, so your goodwill is really your residual of your purchase price of your net assets.  So that's how I would characterize it versus stating written off to goodwill.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, Mr. Vinagre, that's how you essentially -- that's your language I'm using from your memo.

MR. VINAGRE:  Not disputing that.  You have to appreciate that this memo was for all intents and purposes operational in nature in trying to understand the requirements of Union and EGD in preparing for the amalgamation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, if they were -- they knew the rules.  They knew these amounts would have to be, or at least you put it in your memo, written off to goodwill.  Isn't that a cost of the Enbridge Inc.-Spectra transaction?

MR. VINAGRE:  One moment.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. RUTITIS:  I think it is important to acknowledge here that this scenario that we're talking about and we've acknowledged, as Mr. Vinagre did in his opening remarks, was adjusted after the fact because Enbridge Inc. failed to recognize the regulatory asset that we're talking about today.  And so, because of that, I think some of these, like, what we're talking about right now, is not the basis that we want to be talking about.  It's effectively an adjustment that Enbridge Inc. made because they didn't understand the balance at Union's books, and we've adjusted accordingly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand you don't want to talk about it, but I have some questions, and I want to talk about it.  Would you agree with me -- let me ask the question again:  You would agree with me that, if at the time these Union amounts met the definition of amounts that would be required to be written off to goodwill, using your language, upon the completion of the transaction of Enbridge Inc. and Spectra, then that's just the cost of the transaction; it's part of the cost, correct?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. VINAGRE:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.  I think the characterization that you brought forward is a little bit different than our interpretation in the sense that the amounts at the time that Enbridge Inc. recognized as part of the purchase price transaction were ultimately reflected as part of the residual, as my colleague noted, based on the difference between the purchase price and the allocation of net assets of the Spectra entities.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's fast forward to late 2017.  Enbridge Gas and Union Gas or Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union Gas bring an application to the OEB to amalgamate, correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the OEB issues its decision approving the MAADs application and, as part of the approval, approves a deferral account to record the impacts of the accounting changes required as a result of that amalgamation, correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's what's known as the accounting policies changes deferral account, correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand, the amalgamation of Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union Gas into what is now known as Enbridge Gas Inc. was effective January 1st, 2019?

MR. VINAGRE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, as I understand, the accounting order for the AP CDA was not actually approved until the 2019 rates proceeding; is that right?

MR. SMALL:  I think that's correct, that the actual accounting order wasn't approved until, until, as part of the 2019 rate application.  But, in the MAADs decision, the Board ordered the account effective January 1, 2019.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't disagree with that, at all.  I just wanted just to make sure -- I don't recall exactly how that all played out, but the accounting order was not approved until last year.  If we could go to page 30 of the compendium, we see this in the rate order of that decision.  You see under section 12:  "The Enbridge Gas shall establish the following deferral and variance accounts described in appendix I," and then A is the "accounting policy changes deferral account."  Do you see this?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And then, on page 31, we actually have the accounting order, correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Let's go back to the memo, and let's go back to page 40.  As I understand, what happens after the OEB's decision in the MAADs application
-- to be clear, I'm not talking about the accounting order -- and the approval of the AP CDA, you reassess the situation, correct?  You reassess how these Union pre-2017 amounts had been treated; do I have that correct?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. VINAGRE:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.  I think ultimately what happened is that, well in advance of the accounting policy changes deferral account being established, Enbridge Gas and Union had begun identifying all of the accounting policy differences and treatments that needed to be harmonized and addressed prior to amalgamation or at amalgamation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But, as I understand, it's not until the OEB's decision and the approval of the AP CDA that you made a determination that you could reassess these pre-2017, the accounting treatment that had been applied to these pre-2017 Union amounts; do I have that right?

MR. SMALL:  I'll start, and, if one of my colleagues wants to answer -- I think it was we first got the decision approving amalgamation.  Following that, Enbridge Gas and Union Gas started to assess what it would mean in the context of us amalgamating, and then we started looking at what it meant from a pushdown accounting perspective that we would be required to adopt.  And it was in the context of all those discussions that we identified that we had this amount.  But at that point, the AP CDA was already ordered as part of the MAADs proceeding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am not sure we are disagreeing, actually.

MR. SMALL:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So...


MR. SMALL:  Okay.  Sorry, I am just trying to --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is okay.  I don't actually think we are disagreeing…

MR. SMALL:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It was as a result of the decision in the AP CDA that you made this reassessment of the situation regarding those Union amounts?

MR. SMALL:  I don't think it was the decision.  It was -- if you are throwing the decision in the AP CDA out there because it was just part of the MAADs decision, then yes, it was the decision allowing amalgamation to occur that caused us to assess what the implications of amalgamating were, at the utility level.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand the decision which you made, which you determined could be done is that, with respect to these pre-2017 Union balances, you can essentially undo the write-off to goodwill and reflect it as a deferred asset?  We can go back to February 27, 2017, go back in time, and we can now reflect those amounts as a deferred asset.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Mr. Rubenstein, I would say that, again, how this transpired was that prior to the amalgamation, Enbridge Inc. had reassessed its purchase price transaction and ultimately recognized the amount as a regulatory asset.  And, from there, that was recognizing ultimately the fact that Union, up to the point of the amalgamation, had not changed its -- or was not required to change its treatment of these balances.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So this is what you say, if we can go look at the fourth paragraph on page 40, because it explains the reasoning, as I understand it.  And, really, it starts at that second sentence:
"The reason that EGI is now allowed to reflect it as a deferred asset is because there is a regulatory requirement to capture all impacts to revenue requirement resulting from accounting changes from the merger.  The placement as a deferred asset is temporary until January 1, 2019, when the deferred account becomes effective.  At that point, the amount is reclassified to a regulatory asset (see discussion below on the AP CDA).  Both assets are included on the same balance sheet line item, therefore the difference is minimal. Residual net amounts, December 31, 2018, is $154 million after amortization in 2017 and 2018."

Do you see that?

MR. VINAGRE:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you go to page 56 of the memo, you actually discuss what the specific entries are going to need to be made, or were made.  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now as I understand, you did this and it was contained and reflected at Enbridge Gas Inc.'s 2018 financial statements?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, the first combined set of external financial statements of the two utilities.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand those 2018 Enbridge Gas Inc. financial statements are really just the combined financials of Union Gas and Enbridge Distribution [audio dropout] -- sorry.


And as I understand, the 2018 financial statements of Enbridge Gas Inc. are really just the combined financials of Union Gas and Enbridge Gas Distribution for 2018, since the merger really only came into effect on January 1, 2019; do I have that right?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. RUTITIS:  I would just add to that response, that the combined statements also reflect the accounting policies of Spectra and the Enbridge merger.  So they reflect the push-down.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now this confused me a bit, because as I understand, you did include the transfer to the deferred asset in the 2018 financial statements.  Correct?

MR. RUTITIS:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, and this is in response, not -- I didn't include it in my compendium, but in 1.8-OEB Staff-14, attachment 1, includes those financial statements.  And I believe they are dated February 15, 2019?

MR. VINAGRE:  That sounds reasonable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the memo that we were talking about, which reads like you are proposing or you are going to make some adjustment, is actually dated May 16, 2019.  Can you help me -- can you clarify that?

MR. RUTITIS:  Yes.  So I think that is just more of, like, a housekeeping item in terms of the date on the memo.  The memo went through multiple iterations and drafts and discussions with PwC and some of our senior management team to agree on an accounting policy in advance of the combined statements being issued.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So we should not really look at the date as being definitive of anything; is that what you are saying?

MR. RUTITIS:  Yes.  The date that the memo was finalized isn't reflective of when the accounting policy was adopted.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you.  Can we go back to page 40 of the memo?

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Rubenstein, I am wondering, is this a good time for the morning break?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That would be fine.  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  We will resume at 10:20.
--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we could go to page 40 of the compendium.  And this is again from the memo.  If we can go back to the fourth paragraph, and we can look at that second sentence:
"The reason that EGI is now allowed to reflect it as a deferred asset is because there is a regulatory requirement to capture all impacts to revenue requirement resulting from accounting changes from the merger."

Do you see that?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the line, "Regulatory requirement to capture all impacts to revenue requirement resulting from accounting changes from the merger --" sorry, it doesn't say exactly that.  I apologize.

"Regulatory requirement to capture all impacts to revenue requirement resulting from accounting changes from the merger," that's referring to the AP CDA.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, because of the creation of AP CDA, the amounts are now recoverable.  And so, in your view, you could go back in time and reclassify the pre-2017 Union amounts that had been previously written off as now recoverable.  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  No, I would not agree with that.  It was the amalgamation itself that triggered the requirement of the push-down accounting in the analysis of what that meant to EGI at amalgamation.

Union's balances, although included in AOCI, in substance and nature, were similar, if not identical, to the balances that EGD had been carrying in similar fashion, with regard to actuarial gains and losses.  And, up until the point of the amalgamation, Union had been recovering the amounts and accrual-based pension as approved in rates and, therefore, it was not until the amalgamation occurred and triggered the push-down accounting that the new pension expense basis was required to be adopted by EGI.

Prior to this, Union was on a standalone basis and a standalone pension expense basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So this is -- let's go back to page 40.  This is what you said:

"The reason that EGI is now allowed to reflect it [being the pre-2017 Union amounts] as a deferred asset is because there is a regulatory requirement to capture all impacts to revenue requirement resulting from the accounting changes from the merger."

And we agreed that that part of the sentence beginning with, "Regulatory requirement," is the AP CDA.  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  With regard to capturing the revenue requirement impacts is through the AP CDA, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then this sentence could read:  "The reason EGI is now allowed to reflect it as a deferred asset is because there is the AP CDA."  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  That was EGI's analysis and conclusion at amalgamation date.

I think, as we noted in previous IR submissions or undertakings -- I'm trying to recall which one -- we did note that, absent the AP CDA, Enbridge Gas recognizes that it would have had to bring this balance forward for approval in some type of manner and fashion.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, you mean you would want to bring it forward, not that you would have to.

MR. VINAGRE:  We would propose to bring it forward.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But, at least at the time of the merger, as I read this, the ability to reflect those pre-2017 amounts as a deferred asset is because of the AP CDA.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Not at the time of the merger, no.  Are you --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I apologize.  That's what you said to me.  You were trying to make a distinction that that was the view at the time of, I think you said "amalgamation."

MR. VINAGRE:  Merger versus amalgamation.  So, yes, at amalgamation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  You're using "merger" as the Enbridge vector.

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, at least at the time of the Enbridge Gas / Union Gas amalgamation, the view was that you could treat these as a deferred asset because of the AP CDA.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  We had concluded that it was appropriate to include it in the AP CDA as a balance that needed to be continued to draw down during the deferred rebasing period, ensuring that there was no revenue requirement impact during the deferred rebasing period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm trying to determine if there is a distinction without a difference of the two things we're saying are not, because the language, as I read it, is the reason that EGI is now allowed to reflect it is a deferred asset is because there is -- and then we agreed the latter part is the AP CDA.

So I read that to say that, at least at the time of the writing of this memo, the reason that Enbridge Gas believed that it could treat these amounts as a deferred asset is because of the creation of the AP CDA.  Correct?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. RUTITIS:  Sorry for the delay.  So, from an accounting perspective, the creation of the AP CDA helps support a regulatory asset under ASC 980.  But, in the absence of the AP CDA and the creation of the AP CDA, as we responded in -- I believe it's JT3.30, the company still would have proposed to record this asset on the balance sheet and dispose of it in some manner.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand that's your view now, with some further thought, but, at the time of the memo, it's because of the existence of the AP CDA that, for accounting purposes, you could now treat it as a deferred asset.  That's what it says.  Right?

MR. RUTITIS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Can we flip to page 31 of the compendium.  This is the AP CDA accounting order.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it says:
"The purpose of this accounting policy changes deferral account, as established in the Board's EB-2017-0306/EB-2017-0307 decision order, is to record the impact of any accounting changes that affect revenue requirement, which are required as a result of the amalgamation of Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union Gas Limited into Enbridge Gas."

Do you see that?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, reading that, I don't see anything that says the account has to record the impacts of accounting changes that occurred as a result of the amalgamation of Enbridge Inc. and Spectra Inc.  Do you agree with that?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it's pretty clear that the accounting changes are as a result of the amalgamation of Enbridge Inc. and Spectra Inc.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is correct.  Which is a result of, then, the required push-down through ASC 805 business combinations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And was Enbridge Gas Inc. required to do push-down accounting?

MR. VINAGRE:  Sorry, Enbridge Inc.?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Enbridge Gas.

MR. VINAGRE: Enbridge Gas?  It was required to apply push-down accounting.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, by "required", is that a requirement of US GAAP or a requirement by Enbridge Inc., requiring Enbridge Gas to do that push-down?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is a requirement of US GAAP.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, these changes, as I understand, we were talking about that were predicated, changes that occurred because of the merger of Enbridge and Spectra, were reclassified, as I understand, on the basis of an accounting policies changes deferral account, which is about changes with respect to the Enbridge Gas and Union Gas merger.  Do we have that part correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  With respect to the amalgamation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Isn't that an issue?  We have accounting changes with respect to the Union pre-2017 amounts that occurred as a result of the Enbridge Inc. and Spectra Inc. merger, and now you're recording those changes in an account set up to deal with accounting changes between Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union Gas.

MR. RUTITIS:  So the changes that the utilities reflected at amalgamation, from an accounting perspective, would have been required if the utilities -- or maybe it would have been a different kind of a -- it wouldn't have been an amalgamation, maybe a merger.  Those changes would have been required regardless.

So the pushdown accounting that happened from Enbridge Inc. in order to amalgamate the utilities would have been transactions that would have been required, so, you know, the acquisition accounting and the guidance ASC 805 would have been required regardless.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Two years later?

MR. RUTITIS:  It would have been required at of January 1, 2019.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, let's go back to our discussion of the original transaction.  So, all of this seems like a good deal for Enbridge Inc. shareholders.  There is a cost of the transaction that they had to write-off, and now they may get to recover it.  Sounds like a windfall to me.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Mr. Rubenstein, we disagree with that.  We have established previously that Enbridge Inc. had recognized that it made an error in its purchase price transaction, of which PricewaterhouseCoopers, our external auditors, agreed with and signed off on as part of the completion of the external financial statements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And did they go back and pay more?  Did they more after they noticed that error?  Did they then pay more to Spectra Energy shareholders?

MR. VINAGRE:  Sorry.  No, I don't believe that would have been the case.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then it sounds like a windfall to me.

MR. VINAGRE:  One moment, please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. VINAGRE:  Apologies, Mr. Rubenstein.  We would not characterize it as a windfall.  I think ultimately what this is recognizing is that the amalgamation nor -- neither the merger nor the amalgamation should have changed the nature and substance of the balance, which again are incurred losses on a cumulative net basis that have been recovered through accrual-based pension expense approved in rates.  And we'd like to note that, had this balance been in a net gain position, which is possible with pension accounting, Enbridge Gas would be bringing forward a payable balance to dispose of to ratepayers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go to page 62 of the compendium.  This is your response to JT3.37.  As I understand, what this is is a continuity schedule of the company's pension and OPEB actuarial gains and losses; do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go over to page 64, this is the Union pension and OPEB actuarial gains and losses from 2013 to 2018; do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I read the table just of how this works -- and let's just use 2013 actuals as an example to run through -- we have an opening balance, and then we have the actuarial gains or losses that occur in that year; then we have how much are amortized, the amortized gains and losses so essentially what's been paid; then we have the amortized prior service costs, and then we get to the subtotal, correct, and that then gets us to the closing balance, the year-end balance?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then that year-end balance is next year's opening balance, fair?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  In column A, we have what was in the 2013 OEB-approved rates; do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's what's in base rates for Union's base rates?

MR. VINAGRE:  Isolated, yes; isolated to the amortization of actuarial gains and losses as part of pension expense.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  As I understand Union's base rates, they haven't been -- well, there have been adjustments to rates; you haven't had a cost of service application for the Union rate zone until this application for 2024, correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I read what it shows -- and let's just focus on the pensions for a moment here -- we have OPEBs in the bottom table; there was an amortized -- built into rates was 27.1 million amortized actuarial gains and losses, pensions gains and losses, and for prior services costs; do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then, if we just go down to the OPEB, we have $1 million in amortized actuarial gains?

MR. VINAGRE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, let's just focus again on the pensions.  When I look at what actually happened, am I right that, between 2013 and 2018, Union actually amortized in every year less than 27.1 million ever year?  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's, as I understand, because of the methodology that you used, correct, which is, as I understand, it's that you calculate the cumulative gains and losses in excess of 10 percent of the greater of the beginning of that year's obligations or the market value of the pension and then amortize that over the expected service life for the remaining work that -- do I have that -- do I have that right?

MR. UKONGA:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, generally speaking, as the opening balance is reduced, so is the amount amortized in a year, generally speaking?

MR. UKONGA:  Yes, all else being equal.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So maybe we can flip over to page 62.  This shows the pension and OPEB gains for EGI starting in 2018, the same, we have the same table for the combined company, correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we flip down to the second half of it, we have the Union pre-2017 actuarial gains and losses; do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It is presented a bit differently, correct, here?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so actually maybe the better way to look at it is if we go back to page 50, sorry, page 13 of the compendium.  So, on line 14, we have the continued pre-2017 pension actuarial losses, correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's what's amortized for those amounts for 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, and forecast for 2023, right?

MR. VINAGRE:  With regard to the pre-2017 losses, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct, in every single year, as well, you amortize less than the 27.1 million for pension and then the $1 million for OPEB, so $28.1 million that are built into rates, correct?

MR. SMALL:  That's correct.  Again, this is an isolated view of one line item or one component of pensions costs, and, you know, other parts of pension costs might be escalating at a different rate or changing compared to what's in rates, as well, same with all other costs that are in base rates not subject to a Y-factor treatment under a price cap.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Trying to understand this component and understand its relation.  So there is an agreement that, in every year between 2014 and 2023, you will have amortized less than what is included in base rates for these pre-2017 Union amounts, correct?

MR. SMALL:  Yes, that's correct.  Again, I mean the amounts prior to 2017 were not just pre-2017 losses; it was the actuarial losses that accumulated through to that period of time.  So, when we refer to the pre-2017, it is kind of the balance as at February 2017, so --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that.  Since you amortized less than what's included in rates, all else being equal, the shareholder benefits, correct?

MR. SMALL:  I guess, at the surface, that statement is true, but, again, you're looking at an isolated, one-line item of cost under a price-cap mechanism.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm just trying to understand.  It boosts earnings, correct?

MR. SMALL:  When looked at in isolation, yes, I guess that would be the case.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But customers still have to pay, correct?  They are still going to have to pay -- well, again --


MR. SMALL:  Again --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- [overtalking]  Correct?

MR. SMALL:  Pardon me.  Sorry to cut you off.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, that's okay.  Customers will still have to pay?

MR. SMALL:  Customers have to pay the rates designed under a price-cap mechanism, and, under the price-cap mechanism, there is no direct tie between, you know, the rates we're charging and the underlying costs.  Rates each year are not being set to pick up specific line items of costs.  The company is intended to manage its costs under the revenues provided by the price cap mechanism.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  But just so I understand, if you amortize less than what's built into rates, all else being equal, that is an increase in earnings.  Correct?

MR. SMALL:  That's correct.  And where costs increase faster than what's built into rates, we are on the hook for that, or the company is intended to accommodate that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But because of the -- but from a customer's perspective as it relates to the actuarial gains and losses, if you amortize less in one year, what's built in rates, it's not as if customers never have to pay that difference, right?  It just goes into the next year.

MR. SMALL:  Sorry.  Could you repeat that?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, maybe let's look at an example.  Let's just pull up an illustrative example, if we look at page 64 of the compendium.  Let's look at 2016, as an example.  If we look at the pensions, as I see, you amortized $18 million.

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, I would agree.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as we discussed, built into rates was $27.1 million.  Correct?

MR. SMALL:  If you try to make a linear tie to what was embedded in 2013 base under cost of service, and suggest that that is what is in rates in 2016, then yes, there's a difference.  I agree.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And all else being equal, that $9 million difference goes to earnings.  Correct?

MR. SMALL:  All else being equal?  Yes.  But so do all the other cost variances that happened between what actually occurs and what was in base rates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But that $9 million in amounts that you didn't amortize, those costs you didn't amortize, it is not as if they didn't disappear; they just show up in the opening balance the next year.  Correct?

MR. SMALL:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so customers will have to pay that amount.  Correct?

MR. SMALL:  There would be an unamortized balance that carries forward, yes, to be worked into, you know, the accrual-based cost for pensions, similar to the way the 2013 balance was forecast or calculated.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when the amounts were put in the AP CDA, you would agree with me that if you had amortized what was in 2013 base rates as opposed to how you did your amortization, the balance would be significantly lower.  Correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Jason Vinagre here:  Theoretically, on a theoretic basis, yes, that is correct.  However, EGI, or Union previously to that, had no mechanism to do so, to recognize a higher expense.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you could have put whatever you wanted in the AP CDA.  You could have increased the amortization.

MR. VINAGRE:  One moment, please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. UKONGA:  Ben Ukonga here:  The policy was to amortize what's the balance in the AOCA, the unrecognized actual gains and losses at each year end.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That was Enbridge's policy.  Correct?

MR. UKONGA:  Well, that's the accounting policy.  That is the accounting requirement, US GAAP.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But now we have moved the amount from -- to the accounting policy changes deferral account.  Correct?

MR. UKONGA:  What was moved was the difference, and Enbridge can correct me if I am wrong, the difference between the unrecognized gains and losses at amalgamation between what was in EI's books and what was in Union's books.

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.  And from there, during the deferred rebasing period, we continued to draw down or amortize the balance in a manner similar, and identical, if you will, to pension -- previous pension accounting treatment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that Enbridge Gas, that was the company at the time, these amounts were in the AP CDA, it over-earned every year?  Do I have that right?  Between 2019 and 2020, it has over-earned?

MR. UKONGA:  Sorry, can you repeat that question, please?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand, Enbridge Gas between 2019 and 2022 has over-earned every single year.  Correct?

MR. SMALL:  In terms of actual results that have been filed?  Yes, from 2019 to 2022, we have earned more than the allowed -- or Board-formula return on equity each year.  Sorry, from 2019 to 2022, the years for which we have actuals, EGI has -- its return on equity has been greater than the Board-formula ROE for the corresponding year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that Union Gas over-earned between 2013 and 2018, every year?

MR. SMALL:  Subject to check.  I don't have numbers at my fingertips here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the company has over-earned because it amortized less than what was in base rates?

MR. SMALL:  I don't agree with that statement, to say that is why we over-earned.  I think there is a multitude of factors that contributed to earning more than the allowed ROE, some of which would be the intent of a price cap or the intent of an amalgamation to drive out synergies.  So I don't think we can point to one thing and say that resulted in over-earnings.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You agree with me, it is part of the reason?  You had an amount in base rates --


MR. SMALL:  Well, again, I --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- you spent less.  And?

MR. SMALL:  -- disagree with the context that rates are designed to recover a specific amount under a price cap mechanism.  But, you know, taking it all the way back to what was in base rates when there was a tie between costs and rates, you know, under that theoretical premise, then your statement is correct, that it would be a contributor.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, as I understand, while you are seeking to dispose the $155 million balance and collect it from ratepayers in 2024, you don't actually have to do it that way.  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  No, we don't have to do it that way.  That was the initial proposal as part of the pre-filed application, combining this balance with all other balances brought forward for disposition.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, if the OEB agrees, you could continue to amortize these pre-2017 Union balances over time.  Do I have that right?

MR. VINAGRE:  If Enbridge Gas was directed to do so, we would be able to accommodate that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think, if we go to page 60, you explain what you need from the OEB in that [audio dropout] you say you need:
"Enbridge Gas requires an OEB decision and rate order approving a deferral account and specifying the manner and timing of recovery of Union's pre-2017 unamortized actuarial losses and prior service costs in order for Enbridge Gas to continue recognizing it and recovered over extended period of time."


Do you see that?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why do you need approval considering your own evidence, as we discussed earlier, was that between February 2017 and the end of 2018, you on your own determined it was a regulatory asset, and you amortized it.  There was no requirement for OEB approval; what's the difference?

MR. VINAGRE:  One moment.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. SMALL:  So, in the 2017 to 2018 time period, and even through to now, we recognize that rates, not necessarily a specific amount, but rates are designed to recover accrual-based pension costs.  So there was that continuation of the expectation that rates each year would be continued to design -- or would be continued -- would be intended to recover accrual-based pension costs.

And that's why, during that 2017 to 2018 time period, or, you know, upon looking at the implications of amalgamation, as at the end of 2018, we recognized it as a deferred asset.  Because rates were still designed to recover accrual-based pension costs, and those amounts would, under the mechanisms talked about, be expensed over the subsequent time period.

So, going forward, though, because in 2024 our forecast pension cost has recognized -- I'm not sure how to word this -- but it doesn't include the amortization of that amount anymore, we don't have that common understanding that rates will reflect a portion of that being amortized going forward.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, you say in the undertaking that you would need an order specifying the matter and timing of recovery.  Do you see that?

MR. SMALL:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What would that look like?  What's the timing?  I'm a bit unclear here.

MR. SMALL:  Over the time period in which the amount would be recovered.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is not a specific date?  The you're not saying that the Board needs to specify that you need to recover it by X date?  I just want to understand what actually you would want the Board to say.

MR. SMALL:  Again, I think it was provided -- I think it is in this response that something similar to when the legacy EGD TIAC was approved, where it was approved for recovery in equal increments over a 20-year period.  And, again, just something of that nature, that specifies the time period and the amount.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much, panel, for your assistance.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Mr. Buonaguro, I think you're up next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I am counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.

My only issue is the same issue you've been discussing with Mr. Rubenstein at some length now, with respect to the AP CDA, and I will try to make my questions and coverage of the topic as incremental as possible.  I'm scheduled for 27 minutes, but I don't think I'll be the full 27 minutes.  I will probably be about half or less of that.

To start, I would like to pull up, from the SEC compendium, page 34.  And this is Exhibit JT3.3.

In this undertaking response, you were asked, if there had been no policy changes deferral account, what would have occurred to the balance, both on the financial and regulatory purposes, the amortized external gains and losses, and past service cost remaining balance.  And the answer that you gave in the undertaking was, well, if there was no AP CDA, we would have applied for a deferral account and presumably tried to replicate the same sort of relief.  Is that fair?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So my question, though, is confirmation of what happens, or what would have happened, or what will happen, if the Board doesn't approve deferral account treatment at all.  I think there's an answer to that, and I think the answer is, well, at the end of 2018, the balance in the account was $211.3 million, and you would have had to expense that upon the merger as a result of push-down accounting.  Is that what would have happened?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. VINAGRE:  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro.  We were just conferring on that.

Yes.  A complex matter, obviously, but, in the absence of that approval, I believe that Union, or now EGI, would have essentially argued that a regulatory asset treatment was appropriate, considering that its sister party to the amalgamation, EGD, has similarly been recording the amounts, similar amounts, as regulatory assets and also continued to draw down the amounts through accrual-based pension expense.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I understand that that's the argument would you have made in support of a deferral account, but that's not my question.  My question is:  If there was no deferral account, or if the Board said no, we're not going to give you a deferral account treatment for this asset, or this amount, what would happen?  And I believe the answer is, we would have expensed $211.3 million at the end of 2018.

MR. RUTITIS:  What my colleague was getting at is US GAAP allows for the creation of a regulatory asset.  There is specific pension guidance that wouldn't require a deferral account.  This guidance is relied on in the EGD rate zone, where a regulatory asset is formed for the unamortized balance because it meets the definition of a reg asset.  So it is an incurred cost on the balance sheet, and that presentation difference is allowed to move it from AOCI up to an asset.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But that is not the policy of Union at the time.  Right?  That was not policy of Union at the time.

MR. VINAGRE:  I wouldn't say, necessarily, the policy, but the presentation.  And we are speaking to presentation on the balance sheet.  The substance and nature of the balances are similar, if not identical, to EGD's.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry.  Are you telling me that you don't need deferral account treatment?

MR. RUTITIS:  We're saying that deferral account treatment is the best form of evidence in terms of the recoverable nature of the balance.  However, there is guidance under US GAAP, under ASC 980, that allows for creation of an asset, absent a deferral account, and this is utilized by EGD today.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you could have changed Union's accounting?

MR. RUTITIS:  Well, there was a lot of accounting policies that were aligned as a result of the amalgamation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which are being captured in a deferral account?

MR. RUTITIS:  To the extent that they have a revenue requirement impact, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Can I take you to the exhibit that I circulated last week.  I have called it OGVG AP CDA Exhibit (Panel 13).  And could I get an exhibit number for that.

MR. RICHLER:  Yes.  That will be K15.3.
EXHIBIT K15.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "OGVG AP CDA EXHIBIT (PANEL 13)".


MR. BUONAGURO:  So, in this exhibit -- and this follows almost directly upon the conversation you just had with Mr. Rubenstein.  It takes that conversation and it actually tries to put numbers to it across the whole time period.

For example, you will see, for 2013, at line 3:

"What I have called forecast accumulated actuarial gains and losses and past service cost draw-down embedded in rates (see 2011-0210, JT3.7) plus annual escalation.  You can see the $28.1 million, which I call the amortization expense that was embedded in the 2013 rates for Union."


Do you see that?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, we do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so I'm just going to refer to as amortization expense.  I know it has a couple of things, but, for the purposes of this discussion, I'll call it the amortization expense.

So can you see, in that line, I've escalated that throughout time to try to get a handle on what was included in rates for that line item, using the various escalators that are applicable to Union.  For example, for 2015 in EB-2014-0271, the escalator was 0.82 percent, so I escalated the previous year by that amount.

And, escalating that over time, based just on PCI escalations, I concluded that there is approximately $323.2 million included in rates for this line item.  Do you understand what I was doing and that I've done it appropriately, based on what I was trying to achieve?

MR. SMALL:  I believe, yes, we understand what you were trying to do.  And, in the time I had, I checked some of the escalators to ensure that they were accurate, so I believe you did it correctly.

Again, as I said to Mr. Rubenstein, you know, I don't know that I agree with the context of this analysis in that, each year, rates under a price cap aren't necessarily tied to the line item of costs underneath.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you for that.  And I do recall you saying that a number of times.  You would agree with me, though, that you are seeking deferral account treatment of this line item, correct?

MR. SMALL:  We're seeking deferral account treatment of the residual -- well, we're seeking to clear the residual balance.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the residual balance is based in large part on the amount of amortization expense that you recognized every year, correct?

MR. SMALL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, for example, if you go to line 4
-- and I will just pick a year at random -- in 2020, you are proposing to recognize $12.3 million of amortization expense; that affects the balance that you're seeking, correct?

MR. SMALL:  I would agree.  The amount amortized again was based on a consistent method that's been utilized throughout the entire time period.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And, again for 2020, you want to -- you are asking for deferral account treatment of an amount based on the $12.3 million amortization expense in 2020, even though $29.7 million, on my calculation, was included in rates?  You want the Board to ignore the 29.7?

MR. SMALL:  I -- again, I think what I'm saying is that you're looking at an isolated view of one particular component of pension costs, not all pension costs -- and I'm not saying that would necessarily change the outcome.  But you are looking at one line item that is expensed in a year where rates are set under a price-cap mechanism and there could be multiple line items.  Where, if you went back to 2013 and escalated it, the costs could be higher than what was in base rates, and there are other items that will be less.  So I don't disagree with what your calculation is doing.  Again, I'm just not sure that it is appropriate under a price-cap context.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you seeking deferral account treatment of any other line items that are relevant to this discussion, for example, the overall pension costs -- which, as I recall, were all in the same boat.  You were passively over-collecting pension costs relative to what was include included in rates.  But you are not seeking deferral account treatment for any other line items.

MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Buonaguro, when you say you are not seeking deferral account treatment of other line items, are you speaking of 2024 and forward?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, um...

MR. STEVENS:  Because, I mean, as you know, there is a deferral account or variance account that's been agreed upon within the settlement agreement for pension costs on a go forward basis, but I'm not sure whether that's what you're asking or whether you are asking about some backwards-looking deferral account.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, well, we are looking at the, right now we're looking at the AP CDA, and the AP CDA includes a submission by Enbridge to collect an amount associated with amortization expense, correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that's the item that we're talking about.  And now I've included as a counterpoint to try to understand:  Well, if you are asking for protection against an under-recovery in amortization expense, I want to see what was included in rates for amortization expense.  So that's all I've been doing here.  Maybe we can move to line 11, which is a slightly different calculation where, in addition to the PCI escalation, I included an escalation relative to growth in customers on the theory that, as you add customers relative to the base year, you earn incremental revenue.  And I've associated an incremental revenue associated with the $20.1 million of amortization expense embedded in 2013.  Again, do you understand what I was doing here, and then do you generally agree with how I did the calculation?

MR. SMALL:  Again, I agree or I understand what you've done.  I guess I agree that, as you add customers, you would be picking up incremental revenues that are intended to recover all forms of costs, so I mean I don't disagree with what you've done; I just, I want to be careful what I'm agreeing to.  So, yes, I guess I agree with -- I agree and understand with what you're showing.  Again, I just -- I don't know that it's appropriate under a price-cap mechanism.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's because, as you've said a couple of times, you don't believe the Board should be concerned, at all, with how much was embedded in rates associated with this amortization expense, as I've called it collectively; you are only concerned or you think the Board should only be concerned with what you calculated to be the chargeable amount in each particular year?

MR. SMALL:  Well, I don't want to presume to say what the Board should be concerned with.  I just think that Enbridge, UGL, whichever entity we want to look at throughout this time period, followed a consistent methodology for recognizing pensions costs and utilized that methodology to set what was in rates in the base year.  The fact that, as a result of that methodology, the way things, the way actual results came out resulted in -- if you draw a comparison to what's in base rates, it looks like it was higher than what was expensed.  I can't disagree with that.  It could have worked out the other way, depending on how -- maybe someone here could provide more clarity, but it could have worked out that the amount we had on base rates was less than what we would have amortized under a consistent methodology had whatever parameters drive these costs been different.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, and, if someone had sought deferral account treatment and the Board approved deferral account treatment, that difference could have been reconciled, correct?

MR. SMALL:  Sorry, could you repeat that one more time?  I'm not sure I --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, you posit a reverse scenario where, instead of over-recovering in rates the amortization expense every year relative to what was included in rates, you under-recovered and there would be a deficit owing to the company in theory.  And I said the way to get at that would be to seek deferral account treatment, if you wanted to recover that difference.  So, for example, instead of saying that -- I'm putting here -- I did the calculation.  I have said excess amortization collected in rates, PCI plus customer growth, line 12, and I have an excess of $164.4 million.  If it had been the opposite and it was negative $164.4 million and you were looking to try to recover that as the company, you would do that through a deferral account.

MR. VINAGRE:  Apologies.  We wouldn't be looking to recover that amount.  That would be a payable refundable to ratepayers.  And, I'm sorry, maybe you are speaking to the excess that you have calculated; however, what my colleague was trying to articulate is that, if for whatever reason different parameters resulted in the net amount being amortized and we flipped to a gain position and ultimately built up or, sorry, built up to the point of having a net cumulative gain on the balance sheet at the end of 2023, Enbridge Gas would be bringing forward a payable balance to ratepayers.

MR. SMALL:  I think maybe said differently, if I follow your question, if the amortization had been greater over this time period than what was embedded in rates, I'm not suggesting we'd be here trying to recover; that would have resulted -- there would have been, there would have been differences in the annual amount of actuarial gains and losses and differences in the amounts of -- that were amortized.  That would have resulted in a different residual balance at the end, and that's what we are bringing forward to clear, not the differences that happened throughout the year.  So, if the amortized -- I'll be quiet now.  I don't know if I can clarify any more.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just briefly, I want to take you back to page 40 of the, of the SEC compendium.  This is Exhibit JT3.31, page 4 of 21.  Then, the first paragraph Mr. Rubenstein took you to -- and I was a little confused about the discussion around that paragraph.  This is, this is a description of what happened when Enbridge Inc. acquired UGL through the Spectra merger, correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And on I think it's the third line, it says:
"As part of the purchase price adjustment, the amount written off was ultimately included in the goodwill balance recognized."

What I took that to mean -- and you didn't at the time quite say it.  I think you maybe confirmed it with Mr. Rubenstein later on, but it sounded to me like this amortization amount that was on the books was accounted for in the purchase price, so essentially Enbridge paid Spectra for the Union and for Spectra assets accounting for that loss already.  Isn't that what happened?

MR. VINAGRE:  One moment please.

[Witness panel confers.]


Apologies.  So yes, this paragraph was indicating what initially had happened at the Enbridge Inc. level as we have indicated that, subsequent to that, the purchase price transaction at the Enbridge Inc. level was reassessed and recalculated recognizing that the balances that Union had in AOCI were recoverable in nature under past practice and therefore recognized as a regulatory asset with a recalculation of the amount of purchase price compared to net assets and, ultimately, the residual being goodwill.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Because I think you confirmed for Mr. Rubenstein that that didn't result in a refund of the purchase price, did it?

MR. VINAGRE:  No, I would have not have expected it would have.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Thank you, those are my questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

Up next is FRPO.  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you, as I pause for a sound check, here.  Is there feedback in the room?

MR. MORAN:  Yes, there is.  There is a bit of an echo.

MR. QUINN:  Can I try that now?  Is that better?

MR. MORAN:  Yes, it is.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, apologies.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Commissioners, or I guess it is good afternoon, now, and to the Enbridge witness panel.  I am Dwayne Quinn, and I am here on behalf of FRPO.

And since Mr. Rubenstein and Mr. Buonaguro have gone over the pension issue quite well, I think, I am just going to focus on the direct examination this morning, which took us to the short-term storage and other balances account.  And I want to understand what Enbridge is proposing in its updated interrogatory response.

So, Ms. Monforton, if we could have the updated Exhibit I9-SEC 220, dated August 1, put up this morning -- from this morning?  Thank you.

Now this was displayed this morning, and I am not a lawyer, but I was trying to understand:  does that need a different exhibit? -- because it is not part of the compendium, but was filed as a separate document, or at least was distributed as a separate document.  Is this part of the compendium, from Enbridge?  Or does it need a separate number?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  I mean, we are in the Commissioner's hands.  We opted not to ask for an exhibit number, since this is an updated interrogatory which was filed on to the record last week, so we wondered whether it was duplicative to also give it an exhibit.  But if that is helpful to everybody, we can do that.

I can assure you that by virtue of it having been filed last week, it is part of the record of the proceedings.

MR. MORAN:  So, Mr. Stevens, I see that it seems to already have an exhibit number.  I am assuming you just kept the original undertaking exhibit number, when you filed the updated version?

MR. STEVENS:  That is correct.  All the changes, it is now updated.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  And it is noted as an updated version of it, somewhere?

MR. STEVENS:  Correct.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Then I don't think there is a need to have a separate exhibit number.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, Commissioner Moran.  I was trying to understand it, because it may be referred to later on in submissions.

But if we understand what Enbridge is seeking, you are seeking to continue to use that account as it was tied -- the elimination of the account was tied to the full integration of Enbridge rates for all rate zones?  Do I have that right?

MR. SMALL:  [audio dropout] very well answer to the best of our abilities; it is just we are not gas supply experts, necessarily, on this panel.  But yes, that is correct.  It was proposed to be eliminated on the pre-filed expectation that we were going to be adopting a common gas supply plan.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. SMALL:  Or a harmonized gas supply plan, I should say, and a common reference purchase price --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I will try to use your words --


MR. SMALL:  -- a suitable plan for the entire utility; let's put it that way.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I will try to use your words.  I am concerned about the caveat you advanced and, Mr. Stevens, you may or may not be able to help us further, if this panel can't.

But at this point, what I understand is that Enbridge Gas makes separate determinations of the storage it needs for load balancing when it makes its annual gas supply plan.  Can you confirm that?

MR. STEVENS:  Mr. Quinn, I think to be fair to the witnesses, they are not from the gas supply group.  So I see some puzzlement on their faces; I am not sure that they are comfortable answering that question.

But if you can sort of direct us to, you know, the information that you are trying to seek, we can either answer it by way of undertaking or, if it is okay, then I can consult with the regulatory folks here and try to provide answers.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I will advance one or two more questions and maybe then cut to the chase.  But when Enbridge Gas does the evaluation of the gas supply plan for the Union Gas rate zone, what falls out of that is excess utility storage.  Is that correct?

MR. SMALL:  My understanding is that is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So while that is a determination that is done as part of the gas supply plan on an annual basis, there is additional storage that may -- sorry, additional utility storage that may be underutilized as the year and the weather unfolds.  Would you agree with that?

MR. SMALL:  I believe that's a reasonable statement.  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So under an integrated gas supply plan where the gas supply plan is harmonized to use your word, Mr. Small, this possibility of underutilized utility storage could still be real as Enbridge is operating an integrated storage operation.  Would you agree with that?

MR. STEVENS:  I think the difference, Mr. Quinn, is that this account is specific to the Union rate zone, so it is pre-integration.

I mean, the questions you are asking about may well arise in phase 2.  But the goal of this request is to keep a status quo until we have the necessary determinations for the go-forward gas supply plan.

MR. QUINN:  Working with that, Mr. Stevens, and I appreciate that is the case, your updated interrogatory response though -- and if you could go to the next page, Ms. Monforton, please?

In the last paragraph, it speaks to storage.  This account we have been talking about, they need to maintain it on an interim basis until such time as the outcomes from phase 2 or phase 3 related storage are known.  We accept and I respect that.  But what causes us concern is the interim basis seems to suggest that Enbridge is saying once we get approved rates in 2 and/or 3, this account would cease to exist.

MR. STEVENS:  So in the aim of trying to assist here, and please, you know, let me know if I am stepping outside my bounds, but that's what I'm trying to do, I can advise that the reason we have said on an interim basis is based on our understanding that the general premise of creating deferral and variance accounts at the beginning of an incentive regulation term is that they will run throughout the term.

We are trying to recognize that this account, which is directed at the Union rate zone and at the current gas supply arrangements, is unlikely to exist in this form through the IR term.

We are in no way, shape or form trying to limit the positions that parties might take in phase 2 and/or phase 3 about treatment of -- you know, I am not necessarily agreeing with your premise, but treatment of what you are referring to as excess or surplus storage.  But that is an issue for later.

We are simply trying to keep the status quo and, frankly, trying to flow through the benefits that, you know, everybody agrees should accrue to ratepayers, in the event that current excess Union-Gas-regulated storage achieves net revenues.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  I appreciate your answer.

Most importantly, parties aren't limited in the positions they may take in phase 2 or phase 3 on the benefits of -- not necessarily a continuation of this account, but some revised account which recognizes the harmonized utility and, with that, comfort.

Those are our questions.  Thank you, very much, to Mr. Stevens, the panel and the Commissioners.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.

Mr. Garner, I note it is about 25 after.  We are going to break around 12:30; would you prefer to wait until after the lunch break, to ask your questions?

MR. GARNER:  I am in your hands.  I will probably be a bit longer than seven minutes, so if you would prefer --


MR. MORAN:  Okay.  All right.

MR. GARNER:  And it is just one stream of thought, so...

MR. MORAN:  Well, let's pick it up after lunch, then.  We will resume at 1:15.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:23 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:18 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  Good afternoon.  Mr. Garner, are you ready to proceed?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  I am, Commissioner Moran, thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Mark Garner and I am with an organization called VECC.  We represent low-income consumers.

I would like to go back to talk again about this issue about the pension amount that's in the AP CDA.  And I just want to clarify something I heard from you, Mr. Rutitis, earlier.  You were pointing out that, under US GAAP, provided you meet certain criteria, you can establish a regulatory asset.  Do you recall that?

MR. RUTITIS:  I do.

MR. GARNER:  But I would be correct, wouldn't I, in saying that, while you can do that, until the regulator confirms it's a regulatory asset, it really won't exist if the regulator doesn't eventually give you approval for that, because you'll have no recovery?

MR. RUTITIS:  That's correct.  The regulatory asset would be reliant on continued recovery of the balance.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  So, I mean, you could have two different situations; one where, as you point out here, you have an AP CDA and you put this amount to the AP CDA.  I guess the other one might be that you are bringing forward something to the Board to say we've put this in as a regulatory asset.  We want your confirmation, and then how to deal with subsequent disposition.

That was kind of your point, the way I understood it.

MR. RUTITIS:  Yes.  That's a correct summary.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  And can you help me on this:  If the Board were inclined -- as I've listened to the cross-examination -- if the Board were inclined to, from what I hear, find that Enbridge Inc. had monetized the value of that asset in the merger transaction and just -- I'll stop for a minute.  I'm going to use the nomenclature that you use, I believe, which is that merger is Spectra; amalgamation is Union and Enbridge.  Okay?  So, if the Board were to find that, in that merger transaction, the shareholder monetized the value of that asset as part of the transaction -- I'm not asking you to accept it, but's let's say they found that -- what would be the consequence to the utility?  Like, what would you have to do in the utility's rate-making and how would that differ from what Enbridge Inc.'s books would look like?

See, where I'm lost is, as I understand it, on Enbridge Inc.'s books, the asset was written off, basically, to goodwill, but it's now showing up in the regulatory end.  So, if the Board were to say no, it's not going to end up there, what happens next, so to speak?  What is the consequence of that?

MR. VINAGRE:  Can we just confer for a second.

MR. GARNER:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. VINAGRE:  Sorry, Mr. Garner.  Could you repeat just one more time, to make sure we answer appropriately.

MR. GARNER:  Well, what I'm wondering is:  What is the consequence to the regulated utility and, if you know, to Enbridge Inc., of the Board making a finding that there is no regulatory asset, or no amount in the deferral account
-- it kind of comes to the same thing -- that you're seeking because that has been monetized as part of a transaction and to the benefit of the shareholder.  Let's just say the Board were to say that.  If the Board were to do that, what happens next?  How is that, in an accounting way, dealt with?

MR. VINAGRE:  Okay, yes.  So, as of the amalgamation, and prior to that, we have noted that Enbridge Inc. did correct its purchase price equation and, ultimately, its residual goodwill.  And, subsequent to that, the amalgamation occurred, at which point, with the requirement for push-down accounting, EGI's financial records and EI's were the same.  And, with that respect going forward, if a decision were to come out, ultimately, that continued recovery of the amount was not approved, then, ultimately, that would have resulted in a write-down or a write-off to earnings in the year.  That would have ultimately flowed through both the subsidiary, the EGI in this case, and Enbridge Inc.

MR. GARNER:  So the write-down is in the Enbridge Gas regulatory end, not at Enbridge Inc.  That's not where the right write-down occurs.

MR. VINAGRE:  The write-down would occur at the utility, yes, and then would flow up through to Enbridge Inc. on consolidation.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, thank you.  Now, the other thing I'm a little bit confused with listening to this, the merger, as I understand it, is occurring in 2016.  And, as I understand it, it is finalized on -- is it finalized on January 1, 2017?  Is that when it's...?

MR. VINAGRE:  It was announced in 2016 and effective February 27, 2017.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And, at that time, I believe you said both Union Gas and Enbridge Gas, whatever it was called then, they are both at that time on US GAAP.  They are both using the same accounting rules, aren't they?

MR. VINAGRE:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  And so what I'm trying to figure out in my on mind is:  At that time, why hasn't what's happening now happened at that time at Union Gas?  Why isn't Union Gas basically saying we have to recognize this at this moment, and do so?  Why isn't that occurring 10 minutes after the transaction, so to speak, is complete?

MR. VINAGRE:  I'll allow my colleagues to add further, if necessary, but the merger itself, and the transaction that occurred at Enbridge Inc., did not impact Union as a standalone entity at that time.  And, ultimately, Union operated under a different basis of accounting from its parent corporation.

MR. GARNER:  But they are the same -- Enbridge Gas today and the ones that you are doing, they are the same rules.  They are both US GAAP rules.  There is no difference in that.  Right?

MR. VINAGRE:  There is no difference in the rules, no, but it was only upon amalgamation and the requirement at that point under US GAAP to apply ASC 805 business combinations in the required push-down.

MR. GARNER: All right.

MR. VINAGRE:  That was the trigger.

MR. GARNER:  And I can't even remember how to say that, but let me ask you this question in a what-if scenario.

So what if we weren't here dealing with this?  What if Union Gas had continued on as Union Gas and, I guess, in a subsequent year, come to the Board and said, I want to do cost of service rates.  What would happen at that time?

MR. VINAGRE:  So, yes, good question.  So, if that were to theoretically have happened, Union Gas would have continued on as a standalone entity and ultimately recognizing a different basis; in particular here, on a pension expense basis.  That is not uncommon.  And, ultimately, Union Gas would have continued to have amortized actual expense, based on the corridor methodology, so no change there, and ultimately would have brought forward a residual balance as part of its accrual-based pension experience forecast.  Ultimately, that would have been provided by Mercer.  So that pension expense forecast would have differed from the basis that our corporate parent, Enbridge Inc., would have been operating under.

MR. GARNER:  I'm still not quite sure I understand.  Maybe if I sort of fast-forward to today.  So today, in the what-if scenario, we're doing cost of service for Union Gas.  Do I still see the $155 million amount -- this time now as a regulatory asset, because there was no deferral account -- but would I see $155 million being sought to be confirmed as a regulatory asset?

MR. RUTITIS:  No, you would not.  And if we could turn your attention to page 2 of the compendium, so K15.1, page 2.

MR. GARNER:  Right.

MR. RUTITIS:  Column H.  So the balance that would be in existence at the end of 2023 would be $130 million, and that would be drawn down through regular forecast pension expense, no different than what's been done over time and consistent with the EGD rate zone, as well, and so that balance would accumulate all the actuarial gains and losses prior to 2017 and new unamortized actuarial gains and losses post 2017, up until 2023.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Now, my final, I think my final, question here is that I don't -- I don't recall, in the MAADs proceeding, which happens in, I believe, the 2017 to '18 timeframe, correct?  I don't recall this issue about the transaction potentially having any impact on anything so to speak.  Was there any discussion in that, to your recollection or to your knowledge, in that proceeding?

MR. SMALL:  No, not to my recollection.  And to kind of level set, the MAADs transaction or the MAADs proceeding -- I believe the decision in that was August of 2017, so the proceeding largely happened in the early part of 2017.


It was after that MAADs decision that the utilities started to look at what are the accounting implications of now having to reflect or what does it mean, what does amalgamation mean to the utilities, and then, ultimately, that's where we discovered the pushdown accounting and the implications of it.

MR. GARNER:  I think you meant August 30th, 2018.  I think you said 2017?

MR. SMALL:  Oh, yes, you are correct.  I'm sorry.  The MAADs decision, so it was after that decision where the utility started looking at, the utility started to look at what amalgamation meant from an accounting perspective, and that's when --


MR. GARNER:  Sorry.

MR. SMALL:  -- you have the utility first kind of became aware of the issue of the pushdown accounting.

MR. GARNER:  I guess why that date and correcting you is important, is I'm confused in this sense of time.  Both utilities at the time were under US GAAP; both were using the same rules.  The transaction is completed in February of 2017.  The Board's decision on MAADs is 2018, which is a period of, you know, better than a year, and there is no activity and discussion about this, the transaction having an impact.  And that's a year or better, and, that gap, I just don't understand.  I don't understand why then that wouldn't have gotten to the light of people and then the Board being alerted to an issue that it was going to have to deal with as part of that.

MR. VINAGRE:  One moment, please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. SMALL:  Sorry about that.  So, following the merger of Enbridge and Spectra, there was no impact at the utility level.  We just continued on as we were, as independent entities, and then we entered into the amalgamation or the MAADs proceeding.  Following the MAADs proceeding and the approve -- or the Board gave approval to amalgamate, that's when the utilities started to look at what the accounting implications were of an actual amalgamation transaction, and that's when the pushdown accounting became apparent to us as to -- because it was only the amalgamation that required the pushdown accounting, and so it was in assessing what those implications were that we at the utility ultimately became aware of the pushdown implications.  And then, when we started to assess it, that's when the, I'll say, misclassification of this asset at the parent kind of became apparent.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry.  Can you help me with this, Mr. Small?  I'm looking at -- I think it's K15.1 on page 1, and it says that, at the merger, Union's unamortized balance was initially reset to nil.  So that happens at the merger, right?  That's in the Enbridge Inc., in the bottom box on the first page, in the pre-amalgamation column.  It says:
"At merger, Union's unamortized balance was initially reset to nil."

So that happens at the merger, right?

MR. SMALL:  Right, but just the last couple of words after that, that was in EI's records.  So, at the parent level, they were -- I can't speak to what exactly they were doing, but there would have been entries done at the parent level that we weren't part of at the utility level.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, but part of or aware of is what I'm saying.  Were you aware?  Was the utility, Union Gas, would have been aware of that?

MR. SMALL:  Not to my knowledge.  I can only speak to my knowledge.  No, we weren't aware of those, those entries.

MR. GARNER:  So is it becoming aware of those entries that then triggers pushdown?  I guess what I'm trying to figure out also is why is it pushed down to an amalgamated Enbridge-Union and not pushed down to a Union?

MR. SMALL:  I have to defer to someone with more accounting expertise here, beside me.

MR. RUTITIS:  So that, the pushdown, was triggered by the amalgamation, and so --


MR. GARNER:  Why is that?

MR. RUTITIS:  So US GAAP requires that, under a common controlled transaction, which is effectively what under accounting guidance what the amalgamation of EGD and Union was, that EGD is the acquiree and Union is the acquirer.  EGD acquired Union based off the historical cost at which EI acquired Spectra and, by virtue of Spectra, Union Gas.  So we had to reflect those same adjustments at the utility level as a result of the amalgamation.

MR. GARNER:  And only as a result of the amalgamation, you're saying?  So, had there been no amalgamation, no equivalent treatment to Union Gas if it had continued on as a separate entity but under a common parent?

MR. RUTITIS:  Well, the option to -- there's, upon the merger, there is an option to push down, but Enbridge Inc. decided not to push down to any of its subsidiaries at the merger.  It would have required a pushdown to every single subsidiary in the Spectra organization, and so most large entities don't opt to push down unless required.

MR. VINAGRE:  Mr. Garner, just to clarify and add on to Mr. Rutitis, it is the requirements of that business combination standard that did determine that Enbridge Gas at the time was the acquirer because it was the previous subsidiary of Enbridge Inc., previous to Union becoming a subsidiary.

MR. GARNER:  So your evidence is Enbridge Inc. was required on the amalgamation to do this; is that what you're saying?

MR. VINAGRE:  Enbridge Gas was required to do this at amalgamation, accept the pushdown.

MR. GARNER:  Was Enbridge Inc. required to do the pushdown?

MR. VINAGRE:  Nothing essentially happened at the Enbridge Inc. level.  It is that the amalgamated entity accepts the pushdown requirements.

MR. GARNER:  But I thought you just told me that Enbridge Inc. didn't require -- in the standalone case, if Union wasn't requiring pushdown if it -- and I think you had said, if it had, it would have to do it to all these other affiliates et cetera.

MR. RUTITIS:  So I think we are talking about two different periods of time.  At amalgamation, the pushdown was required, so, on January 1, 2019, the pushdown was required.  On February 27th, 2017, the time of the merger, that's a policy choice that Enbridge Inc. made to not push down the adjustments to Spectra's subsidiaries.

MR. GARNER:  Okay, and you're saying -- and it was required on amalgamation; it was required by the Enbridge Gas utility, the regulated utility, not by the corporate parent?  I'm still confused with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Correct, as Mr. Vinagre just mentioned, it was required that Enbridge Gas accept the pushdown from Enbridge Inc. on January 1, 2019, at the time of the amalgamation.

MR. GARNER:  And none of you are employees of Enbridge Inc., I take it?

MR. VINAGRE:  Sorry.  Inherently, we are employees of Enbridge Gas.

MR. GARNER:  Well, in the sense of -- I'm trying to figure out what Enbridge Inc. actually required of you to do.  But let me just move on with that.  Did Enbridge Inc. have any conversations with the leadership and the executive of Union and/or the amalgamated utility on this matter, the discussions with them on this matter?

MR. RUTITIS:  Can you clarify what point in time?

MR. GARNER:  Any time from the point of the announcement of the merger to the point in time at which the pushdown had occurred and when Enbridge Gas said, yes, we want you to push this, we need you to push this down to us.  Were there discussions between the corporate company and the regulated companies, about that?

MR. RUTITIS:  I would say that is accurate, and a lot of those discussions are outlined in the compendium that Mr. Rubenstein went through earlier, the memo that was referenced.  And so that looks at both Enbridge Inc. and the utility in that memo.

MR. GARNER:  Did any of you on the panel have discussions with finance and/or other people at Enbridge Inc. regarding this matter, other than -- I see the memo that you did.  But I meant, you know, back and forth discussions with them as to how this should work?

MR. RUTITIS:  Yes, we did.

MR. GARNER:  And can you tell me the nature of those discussions?

MR. RUTITIS:  Given the complex nature of this accounting topic, there were various discussions to discuss, you know, the correct accounting treatment and how to properly reflect the push-down in the amalgamation.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, panel.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  Moving to Panel questions, Commission Duff, do you have any questions?
Questions by the Board:


MS. DUFF:  Hi.  I am just trying to get the sequence of events correct, and it started with your argument -- I mean, your examination-in-chief, sorry -- where you drew reference to your 2018 financial statements.  Were any of you involved in the preparation of those financial statements?

MR. RUTITIS:  I was, and I believe Mr. Vinagre was, as well.

MS. DUFF:  And you made a comment in your examination in chief of the fact that, you know, PricewaterhouseCoopers had, you know, reviewed this creation of this regulatory asset.  Perhaps you could expand upon why you mention that and what you think that they were basing that, you know, acceptance on?

MR. RUTITIS:  Yes.  I think ultimately the conversations that were happening prior to that, to ensure that we had the proper accounting for the first time, the combined financial statements at December 31, 2018, and then subsequently at January 1, 2019, there were conversations as we have noted, and that they would also include representatives of PricewaterhouseCoopers.

And when we had brought forward our concerns about the inadvertently not recognizing the amount as a regulatory asset based on the nature and substance of the balance that Union had been accounting for as it normally would have, we went through many discussions with them and ultimately it went through to the point of Enbridge Inc. reassessing its purchase price transaction again, ultimately being able to recalculate it based on the idea that this should have been identified as a regulatory asset, as a net identifiable asset as part of that transaction, which they did.

And then ultimately, with the December 31, 2018 financial statements, those are externally audited financial statements.

MS. DUFF:  Why did you mention PricewaterhouseCoopers?  Were you in discussions with them regarding this?  Were they relying on the OEB's MAADs decisions in order to do that?  Or were they looking at this US GAAP?  What is that account, 980?  I mean, obviously you can't speak for them, but if you were engaged in those conversations, do you know what the foundation of that acceptance was by PricewaterhouseCoopers?

MR. VINAGRE:  Just one moment, please.

[Witness panel confers.]


MR. VINAGRE:  Yes, sorry, Commissioner Duff.  With regard to discussions with PwC, we would have had discussions with them around ASC 980 and regulated accounting and confirming with them that regulatory asset treatment was appropriate at December 31, 2018 based on the premise that this balance represented previously incurred losses that were subsequent to continued recovery over time, based on approval.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, for that.  I was looking at then the Board's decisions, and what happened there.

There is the MAADs decision, which was issued on -- what is the date of this?  It is 2018, August.  But then the accounting order that actually established the accounting policies, deferral account, didn't happen until 2019. I wasn't involved in either of those proceedings.  Do you know why it was delayed to 2019?

MR. VINAGRE:  I am not aware myself why that decision was delayed until --


MR. SMALL:  I think --


MR. VINAGRE: ...2018, however.

MR. SMALL:  Sorry.  I think --


MR. VINAGRE:  Go ahead.

MR. SMALL:  I think the late approval of the accounting order was just the nature of the timing, because MAADs wasn't approved until August of 2017 -- no, August of 2018.  Sorry, I keep getting that year wrong.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. SMALL:  And then we have -- following that, we had to put together the application for the 2019 rate application which, if memory serves, wasn't filed until very close to the end of 2018.

And then just for that regulatory process, it was a decision that wasn't received until mid- to actually late, I think, 2019.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

MR. VINAGRE:  My apologies, Commissioner Duff, just to add clarity, though:  the accounting policy change deferral account had been as part of the MAADs decision brought forward as something that should have been applicable as of January 1, 2019.

MS. DUFF:  And that is actually my next point, thank you.  So I quickly was pulling up both on my computer here.  So, in the 2019 rates proceeding in which the account is established, what was the effective date of that?  Wasn't it January 1, 2019, the account?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Is there any gap or lapse in your perspective between what happened between the actual merger, then the OEB's creation of an account, a DVA that doesn't start until January 1, 2019?

MR. VINAGRE:  And apologies, Commissioner Duff, I am just trying to understand the timeline that you are looking at.  Are you speaking to the February 27, 2017 merger date?

MS. DUFF:  Well, that was technically when it happened.  I am also talking about then the OEB approved it for -- I mean, as part of the MAADs decision.  So...

MR. VINAGRE:  Apologies, I am trying to --


MS. DUFF:  Actually, I don't even know what my question is.  No, I am just trying to -- I think, right, we had the 2017 -- what did you say here?  I am just going to see what you said.

So February 27, 2017, that was the merger date.  But then you didn't have OEB approval till the following August, and then you didn't have the accounting order until -- that was August 2018 -- and then you had the accounting order effective January 1, 2019.  Is that correct?

MR. VINAGRE:  That is correct, to a point, I think.  But what you might be confusing is the merger of Spectra and Enbridge Inc. on February 27, 2017 had no impact on Union as a standalone entity and did not have an impact on Union until the approval for amalgamation in the amalgamation itself, and then the required push-down.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.  There is one other discussion that you had with Mr. Rubenstein regarding price cap IR, and that the concept being to isolate at individual cost such as the amortization of these pension costs.  You were stating that somehow it was not an appropriate way to look at it during your price cap IR.  Did I get that right?

MR. SMALL:  I think that's a fair surmisal in that, you know, under price cap, you are just escalating a revenue stream without any direct tie to any of the underlying costs.  Unless there is a Y-factor treatment or something, a specific mechanism, I think the utility is intended to utilize that revenue.

This is our interpretation I should say --


MS. DUFF:  I am letting you elaborate.

MR. SMALL:  The utility is intended to manage its business and incur all the typical costs it needs to, to operate that business under that revenue stream.  There isn't, in our minds, an explicit approval of a specific cost in that revenue stream; you are just expected to manage the business under that revenue stream, but expected to still expense the same cost that you would normally expense, as required.

And I think our position here -- or not I think -- our position was, is that we continued to expense pension costs as a whole under the consistent parameters, all the way through.

So my concern was saying that rates in 2020 were specifically tied to a level of pension expense, whether that is a particular line item in pensions or pensions overall.  It was just rates were set for 2020, and we needed to accommodate our pension costs under those rates.

MS. DUFF:  So let's take 2020 as an example.  Now that it's moved into a DVA, do you think that makes any difference in terms separating it from just general costs, which are part of your rates and part of your rate escalation?  Because it was in a DVA and, during your price cap term, that was subject to a separate rates proceeding at the OEB.

MR. SMALL:  So I think we recognized it in the deferral account because the whole change to what Union would have recognized as pension costs changed as a result of the push-down on January 1, 2019, the amalgamation date.  But then, because -- but we put the balance in the deferral account, but then we drew the balance down over the deferred rebasing term, equal to the amount that it would have been drawn down had Union's pension continued under the existing standalone parameters.

So we continued to expense the amount that we would have otherwise, and that was to ensure that, you know, that revenue stream we have that isn't tied to specific costs, continues to accommodate the costs that otherwise would have been expected to.  And so, if we hadn't recognized expenses in 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022, we could have theoretically had an earnings pick-up or a reduction in revenue requirement because we would no longer be reflecting a portion of our pensions cost in those years, had we not drawn down the balance in a manner consistent with what would have been had that change in pension reset not happened.

MS. DUFF:  And that's my final question, really, is:  The amount that you drew down within the DVA, the amount that you are amortizing, what reference points -- or what did you use to guide you as to the quantification of the amount to be amortized?

MR. VINAGRE:  Subject to confirmation by my colleague here, but we utilized Mercer reports that continued to track what the Union basis would have been in the absence of the amalgamation.

MS. DUFF:  On an accrued basis?  Sorry, that's not the right word.

MR. VINAGRE:  On an accrual base --


MS. DUFF:  Accrual, that's it.

MR. VINAGRE:  On an accrual based pension expense basis.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Is that confirmed, Mr. Ukonga?

MR. UKONGA:  Yes.  So the amount that was transferred over to the AP CDA was based on, assuming the amalgamation never happened, assuming that Union continued on a standalone basis, what those balances would have been.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all my questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Commissioner Moran.  Deputy Chief Commissioner Elsayed.

MR. ELSAYED:  I have no questions, thank you.

MR. MORAN:  There are a couple of questions I have.

I'd like to start with you, Mr. Bashualdo-Hilario.  In your direct evidence, when you were introducing the new variance account, you made reference to the two existing accounts and the fact that those accounts track assumption variances resulting from DSM programs.  You went on to say government policies, taxes, and then you mentioned future energy transition.

What did you mean by future energy transition?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Under the price cap, we would continue adjusting our rates based on a forecasted average use.  The forecasted average use will reflect the historical pattern and also assumptions on what we can make in the future on what may happen, or what is happening, in the market or in the consumption as a result of the energy transition, as a result of additional DSM, et cetera, or customer behaviour, but we will reflect the forecasted average use in our assessment against the actuals.

MR. MORAN:  That's the part I'm trying to understand.  What would you be recording in the account in that context?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  We will be recording the variance, or difference, between what we are forecasting in every year versus the actual.

For the VOLUVAR, we will compare against the actual and normalized, which means it is just a simple actual with everything included there, whether customer behaviour, energy transition.  Whatever factor has impacted the actual consumption, that will be compared against what we forecasted at the beginning of that year, I would say.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  So, again, just to help me understand it, if 100,000 people decided to put in heat pumps and disconnect from the gas system, what would that lead to being recorded in this account?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  It could be that, depending on what kind of customers are making that decision, higher or lower consumers -- in fact, I can even make another assumption, if customers are leaving the system, right, it will depend on the size of those customers.  If the size of those customers are consumers that use below the average, in fact, the new average consumption will go up.  And the opposite will be true, as well.  If customers leaving our system are above the average, the average use will go down.

So it will depend.  We will assess every year what the actual consumption is, as well.

MR. MORAN:  You made reference to building code, as well.  I'm assuming that what you are referring to is, if there are changes to a building code, for example, no more gas-fired furnaces in residential housing within the term period.  Again, how would that end up in this account?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Again, every year, we will adjust the rates based on a forecasted average use.

The building code, if we know the extension or the magnitude that a new building code will produce to the consumption, we will reflect those adjustments into our average-use forecast.  And then, at the end of the year, when the consumption -- the actual comes in, all the variables that took place during that year will be reflected on the actual average use.  And then, when we compare the two, we will see what effect it has.

MR. MORAN:  In a previous panel, there was evidence -- we were looking at a table that showed costs then compared to costs including transition costs, and it was about $3 million a year, or whatever.

Is that what you would be tracking against, that $3 million approximately per year over the term?  Or maybe you don't recall the numbers.

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  I don't recall the numbers, Commissioner Moran, but could you elaborate a little bit more your question.

MR. MORAN:  In the capital expenditure panel, there was a table.  And I don't have the reference immediately available, but it showed over five years a difference of about $3 million per year associated with the transition risk.  And I was just curious:  Is that the forecast that you would be tracking against for the purposes of this account?

And maybe, Mr. Stevens, you can elaborate if you can, if you have an understanding to help me here.

MR. STEVENS:  Certainly.  I believe, Commissioner Moran, that these are different things.  I was just writing down some clarification questions --


MR. MORAN:  That's what I'm trying to confirm.

MR. STEVENS:  -- for Mr. Bashualdo-Hilario but, if I may, I can probably be more efficient this way.

My understanding is that the average-use account tracks just that.  It looks at all the general service customers, all the use from the general service customers, and figures out a simple average of what is the average use per customer.  So, if, in your example, next year, 18,000 customers depart the system, then the denominator changes, and so we're looking at the average use for the remaining customers.

That's, I think, why Mr. Bashualdo-Hilario indicated that, if it's high-consuming customers who leave, then average use will go down.  If it's low-consuming customers who leave, then average use would go up.

The $3 million adjustment, I believe, was overall costs that will be avoided based on a prediction of the number of customers being impacted by energy transition.  I don't believe it gets into average use per se, and I don't believe it is something that's tracked through this account.  It is an impact, but it is a separate impact from average use.

MR. MORAN:  Right.  Thank you for that.  That's very helpful.  That's what I was trying to clarify to make sure that what this account is solely focused on.  So then, I guess is it fair to say, Mr. Bashualdo-Hilario, that there is more than just the weather risk going on; there is also a transition risk being tracked here, as well?

MR. BASHUALDO-HILARIO:  Correct.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  I have a couple of questions on the pension issue, as well.  Mr. Ukonga, I assume the Union pension that we are talking about is provincially regulated and not federally regulated; is that correct?

MR. UKONGA:  The majority of them, yes.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  I'm interested in understanding what the drivers were for this balance, like what was going on in the pension that created this large balance to begin with.


MR. UKONGA:  So these are, under accounting standards, an estimate in pension expense the actuary makes certain assumptions on discount rate, the return on the pension fund, demographic experience, when people will retire, when people will pass away.  Our assumptions won't be exactly equal to reality, so the differences between what we expect, which is baked into the liabilities, and reality is what gets tracked as the unrecognized gains and losses, and these are expensed over time through pension expense.  So the impacts of the cumulative differences between what was expected in determining the liabilities and the pension expanse, and what happened in reality is those balances, and the net effect has been cumulative losses.

MR. MORAN:  Okay, so those are the principles that would apply to why a balance might change.  I'm interested in the specific drivers in this particular case.  Is it because over the 10 years that we're talking about or whatever it is people started to live longer than what the actuaries have been assuming?  What are the actual drivers to the balance in this case?

MR. UKONGA:  The main drivers would be return on pension assets, so actual returns were lower than expected, and the decline in interest rate over that period.  So, other than the beginning of 2022, interest rates were on a downward trajectory, and that would have been a big driver in increase in losses because, as interest rates go down, pension obligations go up.

MR. MORAN:  Right.  The discount rate works against you, right?

MR. UKONGA:  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  So, again just so I understand it, so every year or every so often you have to do a solvency calculation and a going-concern calculation that
-- it's just that's the way you update what the liabilities are?

MR. UKONGA:  Yes, but the accounting standard, US GAAP, has specific requirements on how the obligations should be calculated.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  One of the features of course when things started changing, for example when a discount rate changes so that future liability is much larger than otherwise, is you may have to make special payments, right?

MR. UKONGA:  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  All right, and the special payments would be tracked in this account, as well, as in this balance?

MR. UKONGA:  No, the cash, the cash that gets contributed into the plan are determined on a different basis.

MR. MORAN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. UKONGA:  So those are driven by provincial requirements.  The losses that are shown up in the unrecognized losses account, those are determined on an accounting basis.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  And then, given the basic proposition that ratepayers are expected to pay for this based on Enbridge's proposal, what happens when the swing goes the other way?

MR. UKONGA:  So, right now, Union had unrecognized losses.  If it was the other way, if actual experience was better than what was expected, return on assets were better, the discounts rates worked in the company's favour, there would actually be a payable.  There would be unrecognized gains sitting on the books, which will need to be reflected in pension expense going forward, which will bring down future expenses, so there would be sort of a credit to ratepayers going forward.

MR. MORAN:  Okay, and maybe this is a question to the accounting folks from Enbridge.  Does that get reflected, then, in a rebate to customers in the next, for example, in a subsequent rebasing setting?

MR. VINAGRE:  On a normal course of operations, absent the amalgamation and this balance in particular for example, Enbridge Gas would be bringing forward a new accrual-based pension expense forecast provided by Mercer, that ultimately would have reflected all of the changes in current service cost, expected return on assets, interest cost, as well as amortization of net actuarial gains and losses, and so it is an opportunity then to reset what is included in base.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  So resetting what's included in base, versus giving back, rebating, ratepayers doesn't sound to me like exactly the same thing.  So maybe you could clarify that for me.


MR. VINAGRE:  It actually does work out the same way, right?  So, if the cumulative position was a gain position, Enbridge Gas would be imbedding a gain into its total accrual-based pension expense, which would be a benefit to ratepayers, a reduction.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  One final question, and this is a follow-up to Commissioner Duff's question around PwC.  So was PwC your external auditor, or were they providing you with accounting advice on this issue?

MR. VINAGRE:  They were our external auditor.

MR. MORAN:  All right, and when they -- so just help me understand your evidence, then.  They, you said they, in effect I think you said they signed off on the identification of this amount as a regulatory asset.  What did that look like?

MR. VINAGRE:  Very high-level and can be corrected here if I'm wrong, but, very high-level, what that meant is that Enbridge Gas brought forward its proposed treatment of all the implications of the pushdown, and ultimately what our proposed combined -- impacts to combined financial statements would have been for December 31st, 2018 and going forward, ultimately they in reviewing or performing their audit on December 31st, 2018, ultimately provided an unqualified audit opinion with regard to our position on -- as we presented for financial reporting purposes.

MR. MORAN:  Okay, so again just to help me understand what that means, you proposed a certain approach to this amount by calling it a regulatory asset, right?

MR. VINAGRE:  Yes.

MR. MORAN:  They saw that you had done that, right?  And so they understood what you were doing, but they weren't saying:  You guys are guaranteed to get this back.  They're just saying:  We understand what you're doing.

MR. VINAGRE:  I think that's a fair assessment, yes.

MR. MORAN:  So they weren't giving an opinion about whether it was appropriate or not?

MR. VINAGRE:  One moment, please.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. RUTITIS:  Sorry for the delay, Commissioner Moran.  So PwC was providing an opinion that we had analyzed US GAAP and reflected the balance correctly with regards to the accounting criteria.  They were not giving an opinion on recoverability in 2024 onwards.

MR. MORAN:  How did they express that opinion?  Is there something that you can undertake to file that shows that opinion?

MR. RUTITIS:  So, there's the audit opinion that we can undertake to file.  That is publicly available.  I believe they've also signed off on the memo that's in front of us today, that we've referenced.

MR. MORAN:  Right.  Okay.  Perhaps if we could get an undertaking, then, to produce both of those items?

MR. RUTITIS:  We can do that.

MR. MORAN:  Thanks.

MR. RICHLER:  Mr. Chair, that will be Undertaking J15.2.
UNDERTAKING J15.2:  TO FILE PWC'S AUDIT OPINION AND MEMO.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, panel.  I think that's all of our questions for this.  Thank you very much for your assistance in this matter.  Do you have any re-direct, Mr. Stevens?

MR. STEVENS:  I do not.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  Then you are excused, and perhaps we'll take a quick break for you to set up your next panel.  I see Mr. O'Leary is in the back of the room with a number of new people.  So we'll come back.  Just let us know when you're ready to go.
--- Recess taken at 2:08 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:14 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  Sorry, about the crossed signals.  Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Good afternoon, Commissioners.  Nice to be back.

I would like to introduce the overhead capitalization panel and, beginning on our far right, we have Ms. Melinda Yan, manager operations and maintenance with the company.

And in the middle is Mr. Colin Healey, director of financial planning and analysis with Enbridge Gas and, at the far left, is Mr. Abbas Lakha of Ernst & Young.

I am going to just briefly introduce Mr. Lakha, but he is not being presented to appear as an expert witness on overhead capitalization.  He is a CA, CFA, and he has worked with the company in the development of the harmonized overhead capitalization methodology.  And his CV is attached at Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 6, page 78.

There are a number of instances where he has worked with utilities in respect of relevant matters, including leading a team of individuals working with a large client on transformation initiatives as part of an integration effort, led a team to assist in harmonizing and aligning management reporting between legacy utilities, assisted management in the review of cost allocations between their unregulated and regulated business, and led a team of individuals to undertake an overhead capitalization study across several clients, resulting in a report documenting the approach to overhead capitalization.

Perhaps I might suggest that now is a good time to affirm the witnesses?

MS. DUFF:  I am going to read the oath to be administered.  I will just repeat it once, and then I will address each one of you individually.

So Mr. Lakha, you are about to give evidence in this hearing.  This panel is dependent on you telling us the truth, and the law requires you to do so.  Therefore, before you testify, I must ask you this:  Do you solemnly promise this panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

MR. LAKHA:  I do.

MS. DUFF:  And do you understand that breaking that promise would be an offence under our law?

MR. LAKHA:  I do.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Healey?

MR. HEALEY:  I do.

MS. DUFF:  And Ms. Yan?

MS. YAN:  I do.
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MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you, very much.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  And I just neglected to note that Mr. Abbas Lakha is an associate partner at Ernst & Young, and I thought I should mention that.  And he has been with Ernst & Young since 2009.
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. O'Leary:


If I could ask you, Mr. Healey, on behalf of the panel, an omnibus question as to, first of all, whether the various pieces of evidence that have been filed in this proceeding or given at the technical conference were prepared by or in the direction of this panel?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  And to the knowledge of the panellists, is it correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Do you adopt it for the purposes of this proceeding?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.  A very short direct examination:  If I could start with you, Mr. Healey.

The company is seeking approval for harmonized overhead capitalization methodology.  Why is this necessary?

MR. HEALEY:  Thank you.  Capitalizing a portion of operating and maintenance expenses is a common practice used by utilities.  Historically, both EGD and Union Gas capitalized overheads using Board-approved methodologies that were based on their respective processes and organizational structure.

These approved methodologies, however, treated like costs differently, making it impractical to continue the legacy methodologies for Enbridge Gas.

As an amalgamated entity, Enbridge Gas reviewed the historical methods and developed a harmonized policy that would best fit the amalgamated utility.

MR. O'LEARY:  Could I ask you, Mr. Healey, how did the company go about arriving at the methodology it is proposing in this proceeding?

MR. HEALEY:  Certainly.  First, Enbridge is not aware of any universally accepted or prescribed overhead capitalization methodology by the OEB.

Therefore, the development of the harmonized policy was guided by four key principles:  First, establish a single consistent methodology for Enbridge Gas.

Next, promote accuracy and transparency through a streamlined model that reflects the underlying capital activity.

Next, support the practical implementation of the model, allowing for regular, annual updates and last, comply with US GAAP accounting standards and the OEB's uniform system of accounts which requires the assignment of overhead costs to particular jobs or units shall be on the basis of a reasonable allocation of incurred costs.

With the aid of these four principles, Enbridge Gas presented a reasonable methodology to allocate indirect overheads to capital activities driven by cost causality, which is consistent with the intent of the previous two Board-approved methodologies.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Healey.  Are there any key matters which the company would like to draw to the attention of the commissioners about the methodology that has been proposed?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes, thank you:  A couple of key items of note with the harmonization activity.

First, predominantly only historic methods of cost causality have been proposed from the previous methods approved by the Board.  The only new form of cost causality to be proposed was that of geographic diversity, which was added in order to accommodate the harmonized scale of the amalgamated utility.  This we believe adds additional accuracy.

Next, EY was engaged as an independent third party in the development of the harmonized policy to identify options, share experience and expertise.  Mr. Lakha was asked to consider best practices for the purposes of recommending methodology.

Overall, Enbridge believes the harmonized methodology generates a more accurate overhead capitalization amount than the continuation of legacy methods, and fulfills all of the requirements defined in our guiding principles used in its development.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Healey.  Under the partial settlement filed with the Board under issue 12, which deals with O&M, the parties agreed at pages 30 and 31 to a reduction in the O&M budget, net of overhead capitalization and DSM of $50 million, to a net total of $821 million.

The settlement agreement further states, and I  quote -- that is why I am reading this:
"Applying Enbridge Gas's proposed overhead capitalization methodology, this adjustment results in a gross O&M budget of $1.113 million exclusive of DSM-related amounts, which represents a reduction in the gross O&M budget of $68 million.  Capitalized overhead is consequently reduced to $292 million, which represents an $18 million reduction from the as-filed amount."

Can I ask you, Mr. Healey, if you can explain the relationship, if any, between capitalized overhead amounts and gross O&M?

MR. HEALEY:  Certainly.  Gross O&M represents the expense required to support the company's operations to ensure safe, reliable and effective service.

The overhead capitalization methodology is used to derive overhead capitalization rates that are then applied to gross O&M, and are used to determine the portion of gross O&M that supports the capital work being undertaken by the company.

Any reduction in the level of capitalized overhead would result in an increase to net O&M, not gross.

It is important to understand that all of the gross O&M costs as noted in the settlement agreement, settled at $1,113 million, will be incurred in order to support and operate safe and reliable systems.  The question is what portion of these costs are allocated to capital.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Healey.  Just one last question:  In the event that the OEB requires changes to the harmonized overhead methodology or the capital portfolio, as filed, what would be the impact of the changes?

MR. HEALEY:  Thank you.  If there was a change to the harmonized overhead capitalization policy or methodology from this proceeding, the allocation of gross O&M to either net O&M or capital for rate-making purposes would need to change.

To illustrate, if the overhead capitalization rate was increased, a larger portion of gross O&M cost would be allocated to capital.  That said, the inverse is also true.  And if the overhead capitalization rate were to decrease, a larger portion of gross O&M would remain in O&M, thus increasing the settled net O&M and would result in a reduced amount capitalized.

It is important to note that regardless of the directional change resulting from overhead capitalization rate, gross O&M would not change at the aforementioned $1,113 million.

As a practical matter, what this means is that the impact will need to be recorded in both O&M and capital budgets used for rate-making purposes.

As an example, if the changes result in a decrease in overhead cap amount by $12 million, such that only $280 million is included in the capital for rate-making purposes, the net O&M must necessarily increase by the $12 million to $833 million.

The main point to consider is that changing the methodology should not have an impact on the recoverability of incurred costs and, therefore, they should be recoverable either through O&M or capital.

Regarding a change in the capital portfolio, as filed, it is important to understand that harmonized methodology utilizes both historical and prospective estimates for the bases of cost causality.  Operation costs are allocated based on the most recent year's actual spend to determine the following year's budgeted overhead capitalization rate and, therefore, based on that methodology, would not be expected to change based on a prospective update to the capital program.

Business costs, however, are allocated based on a prospective estimate of time required to support the following year's capital program and would be somewhat responsive to the filed capital program, but are not directly correlate or scaled.  For example, a reduction in capital budget does not simply imply a reduction in hours that are required to support the capital program overall.  Only after a respective time study is performed can management determine the impact on overhead capitalization rate.

As an example, business cost support functions, such as asset management, would not simply increase or decrease head count of full-time employees in response to annual fluctuations, in the level of invested capital or the quantum of projects.  As the logic is predicated on cost causality of capital effort being linked to the allocation of overhead costs, it is imperative to understand the impact of the changes made to the capital program before applying the harmonized methodology.

Further, O&M costs associated with overhead would not respond immediately, even to a material shift in the capital program, given that most of the reductions would be expected to impact direct costs for these projects.  Only through a long-term, continued reduction in the capital portfolio would we anticipate workforce-related costs to start to reduce to reflect that change in the capital program.

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Healey.  That is our direct examination, and the panel is now open for cross.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  SEC, Mr. Rubenstein, you are up first.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Good afternoon, panel.  I have a compendium for this panel and I was hoping we could get that marked.

MR. RICHLER:  The SEC compendium is K15.4.
EXHIBIT K15.4:  SEC COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 14.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think the one that is on the screen, though, is the DVA account compendium.  I sent the wrong title; that's my fault.  I apologize.

Let me start off at the most basic level with understanding overhead capitalization.  Would it is fair to describe overheads as all of Enbridge's costs associated with undertaking capital work, excluding construction labour cost and materials, that can be assigned it a specific capital project?

MR. HEALEY:  I think that would be fair in delineating direct versus allocated overhead.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand, there are two types of overheads; direct and incorrect.

MR. HEALEY:  Correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so some overhead costs that are not construction costs or material, but can be directly assigned to a specific project, would be considered direct overheads?

MR. HEALEY:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then, for all other overheads, they are considered indirect because they cannot -- or at least you propose not to -- directly assign them to a specific capital project.

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we can go to page 4 of the compendium, in paragraph 4, four lines up, you describe indirect overhead costs to:  "Include, but are not limited to, supervision and oversight of capital activities or support functions such as legal, finance, legal supply chains, human resources, technology, and information services."

Do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the latter group being what I would call more traditional back-office support costs?

MR. HEALEY:  That's fair.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the former being a different type, those who are supervising the actual capital work that is being undertaken and providing services to that capital work on an ongoing basis.  Is that fair?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand, for overhead capitalization policy purposes, you divide indirect overheads into four different buckets; operations, business unit, support services, and pension and benefits costs?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the operations group, I understand, is the field operations that provide some oversight and support of capital activities?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what you call business unit costs, this includes support areas such as engineering, asset management, system improvement, and integrity.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the support services costs include, I guess, more of the traditional back office, the finance, the legal, the HR, the IT, and I believe real estate, as well, falls into that category?

MR. HEALEY:  Shared services would align with what has been allocated through the CFCAM process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the categories of costs are generally correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then there are pension and benefits costs, which I understand reflect incentive pay, as well as pension and benefit costs, which is are managed centrally for all employees.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then you need to allocate a portion of those to employees who are indirectly supporting capital.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, if we go to page 19, this shows the categories, correct, and the amounts that are being capitalized and the capitalization rate for each of those categories.  Do I have that right?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then we have what I would call traditional back offices, the shared services category.  In fact, of the original $310.5 million, now $292 million, the largest category is actually the operations group.  Do I have that correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then, together with the business unit costs, those represent more than half the costs.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  It seems so, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the pension and benefit costs, since they're really a function of the three other categories.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, really, those, could you proportionally reflect into those three categories.  Is that fair?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, am I also correct that you have certain direct overhead costs that you actually treat as indirect?  Do I have that right?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the rationale for that is that there are just areas where you could directly allocate them to a capital program, but it's too difficult?

MR. HEALEY:  I would say it is determined as burdensome, administratively burdensome, and would actually, we feel, trigger costs to administer a direct time recording in order to allow us to direct-charge those costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I understand, from an accounting perspective, how this works.  All these overhead costs are what we call gross O&M; we've used in the terms gross O&M or gross OM&A costs.  And then a certain amount of those are capitalized, and that's where we put the net O&M or OM&A costs.  Do I have that right?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, if we go to page 2 of the compendium -- this is before the settlement -- this is a utilities O&M cost table.  And I'm just using 2018 as an example, but any year.  Lines 1 to 7 are gross O&M costs?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then line 8 is the overhead capitalization amount?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's removed, and then you get, in line 9, the net O&M, excluding integration and DSM in this table.  Do I have that right?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that, under US GAAP, generally, overhead costs cannot be capitalized unless there is a methodology or policy as approved by a regulator such as, here, the OEB?

MR. HEALEY:  I don't know if I'd reference it as generally not allowed, just because of ASC 980 being part of US GAAP.  So, yes, similar to a conversation that was just had at the end of the last panel, defining that it's only with the approval of the Board, or the regulatory body, that we are able to have that overhead capitalization.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And both Union and Enbridge had approved overhead capitalization methodology.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then, upon amalgamation, with the help of E&Y, you developed a harmonized methodology.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand it, at the highest level, what you attempt to do with a capitalization methodology [audio dropout] capitalization rate which reflects, for any given pool of costs that you are looking at, how much of those costs are incurred supporting capital work.

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then you apply it to the forecast pool of actual costs, correct, to determine how much is capitalized amount and how much is a net O&M amount, essentially?

MR. HEALEY:  In setting a forecast, but it would be trued up when actuals are incurred.  We would have applied that rate to actual incurred costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'm going to get to that to ask for some clarification there.  As I understand for the operations category -- this is the largest component that we talked about -- you set a rate for each of the seven regions, operational regions of the utility?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then you create a capitalization rate specific to each one?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And those reflect for each region how much of the work is done, supporting capital versus O&M?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then, the rate you determine, you take that amount and then you apply it to the forecast costs?

MR. HEALEY:  To produce a forecast, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then, for the business unit cost, you determine the rate by the split -- I believe it is primarily based on the split in employees' time working on capital versus [audio dropout]?

MR. HEALEY:  Based on a time study of forecasted anticipated activity.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then, for the shared services costs as I understand it, it is a weighted average of the operations and business costs, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  It's weighted inclusive of parts of business costs that are 100 percent O&M, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then pensions and benefits I think are done differently because you are essentially creating a labour burden methodology; do I have that right?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And essentially, as I understand, you apply that rate, the labour burden rate, to all employees, and in effect it acts to allocate the pension and benefits costs?

MR. HEALEY:  You allocate the burden to the capitalized labour component, so it's not, it's not put on the full complement of O&M labour; it is only applied to capitalized labour through this methodology.  So only after you determine the capitalized labour component of each of those three categories would you then burden that applicable capital work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, of all the four categories we were talking about, as I understand, the operation and business group rate methodology is key as the others flow out of that?

MR. HEALEY:  Effectively, yes.  Yep.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then, once you have a specific capitalization rate, you apply that to the forecast budget?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes, for the applicable cost.  It is not a full rate applied to the entire bucket.  The applicable rate is applied to the applicable pool.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, yes.  I should have probably been more specific.  You apply the specific capitalization rate to the forecast budget for that given category of costs?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, as I understand how these costs are then included in the capital budget, the total overhead capitalization amounts in any given year are then proportionately allocated to each capital project?

MR. HEALEY:  To asset class.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  To asset class?

MR. HEALEY:  To asset classes, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then to the individual projects?

MR. HEALEY:  The projects would be -- depending on the portion of those asset classes within those projects is how we would calculate that, but, from a system level, we allocate, I believe, with the respective historic methodology of one of the legacy companies to allocate to the asset class level.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me say that back to you.

MR. HEALEY:  Sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You take the capitalized amount, and you allocate it to the various asset classes.

MR. HEALEY:  Yes, based on forecast.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then, within the asset class, it is proportionally allocated to the projects that make up that asset class costs?

MR. HEALEY:  You would be able to determine the portion of overhead in relation to a project by determining how much of each asset class relates to that project, but it is tracked by asset class, not by project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, we've had some previous panels where we've looked at capital project budgets and how there was an allocated overhead amount.

MR. HEALEY:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So how did those amounts -- did you determine for each given project what the overhead amount that would be considered part of that project budget would be determined?

MR. HEALEY:  So, as noted, if you have the categories or the asset classes within a project and you know the overhead allocated to each asset class, it is just a matter of adding those components together to determine how much relates to a project specifically.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, sorry, I thought you said you allocated to the asset class --


MR. HEALEY:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- then you then have to allocate it to the project?

MR. HEALEY:  The project would be almost illustrative purposes in the sense that you would determine how much of each asset class, inclusive of overhead cap, was in each project, but you wouldn't report -- I think we say within evidence that we don't report at the project level overhead capitalization; it would just be a computation utilizing the information for each asset class within a project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then, when the Board is looking at a capital project of $50 million and it says there is an allocated overhead of $5 million, that $5 million is not actually included in the budget for an [audio dropout]; it is just there for a presentations purposes?  You are holding that amount at the asset class level?

MR. HEALEY:  It is reported at the asset class level, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then, help me understand.  So, for presentation purposes if we're looking at an asset class and there were two capital projects in that asset class, one costing $90 and the other costing $10, in the indirect overhead capitalized, that class was $10.  Would I be correct that what you do is you take that $10, then, for presentation purposes and you split them up proportionally so now project 1 has a cost $99 and project 2 has a cost of $11?

MR. HEALEY:  So, in that math, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But, if you decide in that asset class to only do one project, correct, that was the first project that was $90, it would be allocated all $11 of -- sorry, all $10 of the overhead capitalization?

MR. HEALEY:  Um...just thinking through your question, sorry.  So, if you had two projects forecasted in an asset class and you removed a project, that would imply that the project associated with that asset class is no longer there.  So you would reduce that asset class and reduce the amount associated to it.  You would then redistribute the total portion to the remaining projects shall slash -- or, my apologies, asset classes.  So then you would do that calculation again to determine what that project was to receive.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But, ultimately, the overhead capitalized amount to the whole budget doesn't change; you just redistribute it --


MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- to the various asset classes?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Apologies, all the projects?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we go back to page 2 of the compendium that is on the screen right now, is line 8 overhead capitalization numbers only indirect or does that include direct?

MR. HEALEY:  It is only indirect.



MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I want to understand the data you use as inputs to determine the capitalization.  Maybe we can start if we go to page 16 of the compendium.  We can go down to paragraph 32.  Here, you are talking about the update process.  Do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you say in the last line:  "Capitalization for the 2024 test year is based on 2021 actuals and are identical to those used in the 2023 budget."  Do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, can we turn to page 57?  This is a response to Staff IR54.  If we see the beginning of part B, you say:
"Within Enbridge Gas capitalization model for 2023 budget, only regional operation capitalization rates are 2021 actuals.  Business unit capitalization rates are based on future estimates of activity performance."

Can you -- do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you reconcile those two statements?

MR. HEALEY:  I apologize.  If we can go back to the first reference?  Sorry, my apologies.  Can you repeat what paragraph it is in -- Exhibit 242?  So the first reference, sorry?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  The first reference is paragraph 32 on page 16.

MR. HEALEY:  Right.  The clarity here is that the update process referenced is only speaking to operational cost, where this gives the clarity of business costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So, just so I understand how you do it, operations costs are based on essentially the work that was done in 2021, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But, for business unit costs, that's based on a forecast mix of projects that you are proposing to do, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct, the time study as referenced in evidence.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And then shared services as we just -- pension benefits are essentially derivatives of those two --


MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- methodologies; do I have that correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.  The only thing that I would add for clarity is that pensions is also a derivative of shared services, not only a derivative of the first two.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, the capital update saw a change in the project mix going forward for 2024, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Can you repeat that?  Sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The capital update which you filed --


MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- has a change in capital projects and capital mix in 2024, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I didn't see any, then, adjustment to the capitalized overheads.

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain that?

MR. HEALEY:  My understanding in the original wording of the undertaking was not formally to request the updated overhead capitalization as a result of the capital update.

Second, I would say the capital update interpretation is there was not a tremendous movement at a gross level. I can't speak though, if there would be a significant change as a result of applying this process.

Said another way, we believe you would do the fulsome time study in order to determine the impact or outcome of applying the overhead capitalization policy.

That said, where it was not formally requested, we continued with our standard, as defined here, budgeting process.  So currently, we are going through that exercise right now, which would reflect the impact of any update or result from this hearing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you say undertaking, what are you referring to?

MR. HEALEY:  The request to do a capital update.  My apologies if I don't have the reference, the capital update that was discussed at technical conference.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I think you said you were going to do a capital update; I don't think anyone asked you to do one.

MR. HEALEY:  My apologies, if that is my confusion.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am just trying to understand for the purpose of the application in front of us --


MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN: ...say the Board approves everything you have asked for, no changes.  Do I understand then you will actually -- there will be a change?  Because there has been a change in project mix of the capital update, this will actually change the 2024 capitalized amounts?

MR. HEALEY:  I believe the outcome of this proceeding will determine the rates that are applied to determine revenue recovery or rate recovery -- or revenue requirement, my apologies.

I think the difference here is we will continue to do our budgeting process and update the rate, applicably, for the capital activity.

To summarize that, I would say our normal budget process that we are going through right now to determine 2024 budget will continue to revise estimates as we continue our standard budgeting process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to understand what happens at the end of a given year.

So as I understand the evidence, and maybe I am incorrect about this, once you start the year with a capitalized overhead amount, regardless of the actuals of the year, that capitalized amount does not change.  Am I right about that?

MR. HEALEY:  The rate would be applied throughout the entire year and applied to actuals.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We want to switch the rate and the dollars.

MR. HEALEY:  Certainly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do the capitalized dollars change?

MR. HEALEY:  The capitalized dollars would be a derivative of applying a rate to actual incurred cost.

What I am saying is that the rate would not change throughout the year, after set, in the budget process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to go back to page 2 of the compendium?

So this shows the 2022 estimate.  Right?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there I get, in line 9 -- so this is the net O&M before we talk about integration and DSM -- I get a net O&M of $797.

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And an overhead capitalization of $269.

MR. HEALEY:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe I could ask is 1.1 SEC 74 is brought up.  This is the same table essentially that provides 2020 actuals.  Go to attachment 1, page 1.

So this is the same table with 2022 actuals.  Do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I see now, net actual O&M of $840 million?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I see an overhead capitalization of $270 million?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I see an increase of, I guess, gross O&M of $44 million, and I see only a $1 million change in capitalization -- capitalized overheads?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain that?

MR. HEALEY:  So, without being able to go through the specifics, I don't think it would be -- I don't have an immediate response, I guess is my best way to say that.  What I would say is applying those, the rate as set for that year, throughout the year to actual costs, resulted in this number.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What I see as the actuals --


MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN: ...essentially no change in overhead capitalized amounts, but about a $40 million change, a $43 million/$44 million change in the net O&M.

So that, when you say we update the capitalized amounts based on actuals, that doesn't seem to be what happened in 2020.

MR. HEALEY:  You are inferring that there is a direct correlation to that rate, to any and all cost.

What we said earlier in our conversation is there are specific rates applied to specific departments.  There could be pluses and minuses in some areas, where rates were higher, versus areas where rates were lower.

So I would have to look to determine which was the main driver in that year, to not influence overhead capitalized amount as much as you are anticipating.

MS. YAN:  Sorry, maybe I can just add there that although the net O&M has increased and -- from the forecast, and the overhead capitalization only increased by $1 million, it would mean that cost in areas that had either low overhead capitalization or no overhead capitalization probably increased.  So that is why the overhead capitalization still remained relatively the same, or just increased by a million dollars.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to understand what happens to the 2024 capitalized overheads based on some different scenarios that may occur in this proceeding.

If the OEB said Enbridge for 2024, you will not do any more capital work.  I understand it is an extreme scenario from your perspective but just -- I want to understand that.  And the Board says there will be no more capital work.

Am I correct that you would still have a significant capitalized overhead amount based on your methodology?

MR. HEALEY:  That is a large hypothetical; I am just trying to think that through.

If there is no capital work to attribute capital overhead to, I would not anticipate any overhead capitalization.  If there are no projects performed, whatsoever, there is nowhere to allocate that capital to, if I understand your question correctly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that the distinction?  If there was one capital project, you would be able to allocate it as something?  It would be a large capitalized overhead?

MR. HEALEY:  Coming back to the fundamental principle of overhead capitalization relates to cost causality.  And if there is no underpinning or underlying cost associated that would attract overheads, I believe that to be true.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is for the operations group, which we discussed is the largest group, it is based on purely historical splits, and then applied to an amount.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then using that methodology of going forward, you would still be applying those splits based on, I believe, a 2021 number?

MR. HEALEY:  I am sorry, that determines the rate.  You then apply the actual cost to the capital program.  But if there is no capital cost to allocate those -- there is no asset classes driving that attraction of cost.  So I am unsure...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I said no capital work.  Imagine there is one capital project, so there is an asset class to put it.  I am just a bit confused.

So you have an operations groups that is still there; it is just not doing any capital work.  You are applying a capitalization rate based on historic split of work.

MR. HEALEY:  Uh-hmm.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then you are -- you would be capitalizing some amount.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  You would be capitalizing some amount.  But I think the hypothetical is to such an extreme that it would have to be looked at differently, based on -- I have no reason to believe such a situation would incur for this hypothetical, but I think I am struggling with using such a strong hypothetical to a defined process.

I think it would have to be considered, if such a reality came to be, we would have to go back and reassess or determine the appropriate application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fair.

How about if the Board said you need to reduce your capital projects and spending by 50 percent?

MR. HEALEY:  By 50 percent?  I think coming back to an earlier statement, as well as in my opening statement, this is derived from cost causality.  In our determination of figuring out how much cost relates to what type of group that supports capital projects, it is imperative to understand the detail of what capital work would be reduced.  By simply saying a reduction of 50 percent, I don't think is sufficient for me to say hypothetically what that response would be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would there be?  I know we can't get to the specifics, but there would be a reduction in the overhead capitalized amount?

MR. HEALEY:  I would anticipate a change.  In areas, I would anticipate a reduction.  But once again, this methodology speaks to the rate.

I think you are implying that there would be a reduction in gross O&M that the rate is applied against.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I'm hesitant to go back to some questions around some previous panels about customer connections, but one thing that was raised at the end of last week, there was some discussion about how, for E.B.O. 188, capitalized overheads are not included in the feasibility analysis.  Is this something you're familiar with?

MR. HEALEY:  I don't think I can speak to that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I understood the testimony from Ms. Dreveny that overhead amounts were not included in the E.B.O. feasibility analysis.

MR. HEALEY:  I look to Ms. Dreveny as the expert in that area.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think my question is -- and maybe this could be by way of undertaking -- it was unclear to me why they would not be included in the EBO feasibility analysis, when they are costs.

MR. HEALEY:  Not being familiar with E.B.O. 188, I would assume it's detailed as a requirement in what is included and what is excluded.

MR. O'LEARY:  We can respond to Mr. Rubenstein's question in the form of an undertaking.  So, Mr. Richler, if...

MR. RICHLER:  We can call that Undertaking J15.3.
UNDERTAKING J15.3:  TO CONFIRM WHY OVERHEAD AMOUNTS WERE NOT INCLUDED IN THE E.B.O. FEASIBILITY ANALYSIS.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, your capitalization methodology -- and I think you spoke to it in your discussion, in your chief -- you agree that there are other ways to do overhead capitalization methodologies.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yours was just one of them.  Do I have that right?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.  It was determined as the appropriate application for our company, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I understand one component of your methodology is that the rate that you start the year is the rate that you end the year.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go to page 71 of the compendium.  This is an excerpt from Hydro One's recent rate application.  Do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And they are also on US GAAP.  Are you aware of that?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to take you to line 4.  This is what it says.  It says:
"Using the established methodology, Hydro One reviews its overhead capitalization rates on a monthly basis to determine if the rates need to be updated to reflect in-year changes and actual spending and associated support costs.  The year-end capitalized overheads are trued up to reflect actuals.  This results in a better alignment of overhead costs with the capital work that those costs supports."

Do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you would agree with me it would be more accurate to update the capitalization rates as the year goes on, if required, to reflect actual changes in the mix of work?

MR. HEALEY:  I believe it could be seen as a more accurate depiction.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there a way of seeing that it's not more accurate?

MR. HEALEY:  I think some additional colour to the reference here with the Hydro One study is I'm unable to ask further detail on what their process is.  If I could cite our process, I would say, on a monthly basis, overhead capitalization rates are applied to actual incurred cost.  On a monthly basis, we compare and do an actual versus budget analysis.

If there was a resulting kick-out or a variance that was deemed significant that required investigation, it could highlight the need for a change in the rate.  Just because a change does not happen on a monthly basis does not mean a rate is not considered.

And second to that is, just because the Hydro One references that a rate is updated, I'm unclear as to what that process is.  If they do the same as what I just stated, I could say my rate is inherently reviewed on a monthly basis.  So that's my confusion with the Hydro One report.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Its about three o'clock.  I don't know if this is a good time to take a break as I move to another area.

MR. MORAN:  Let's take the afternoon break, Mr. Rubenstein.  We will convene at quarter after three.
--- Recess was taken at 2:58 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:16 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Panel, can we go to page 19 of the compendium?  We looked at this table before in discussing amounts that were being capitalized, but, as I understand it, the intent of the table is to show what would be capitalized based on the historic methods as compared to the harmonized methods, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the historic method is really two separate methods being shown there.  That's the old EGD and the old Union method?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what the impact is is an increase of the amount that would be capitalized, by $15.4 million?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.



MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we see that the previous, what we'll call the combined capitalization rate was 22.7 percent, and now that's increased by 23.8, right -- increased to 23.8, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct -- or, my apologies, I'm just looking at '22, '23.  I'm trying to determine if that was the updated table.  Apologies.  Just one moment.



MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, maybe we can go and I'll just take you to where I think you were going, is 2.4 Staff 55, and this is in page 65 of our compendium.  Go to page 5 -- sorry, page 65 of the compendium.  So this is showing the $15.4 million difference but a change in what I'll call the total rate from 21.8 to 22.9?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's the updated --


MR. HEALEY:  Yes, so --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- version of --


MR. HEALEY:  -- that's -- it ties to the numbers that I was looking at, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you.  And so what we see here is there's an increase in the rate and an increase in the amounts that are being capitalized?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you'd agree with me old methodologies weren't wrong; do I have that right?

MR. HEALEY:  No, I would not call them wrong.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  They were reasonable?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes, they were, and both approved methodologies.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you picked a harmonized methodology that would lead to a higher amount of amounts being capitalized, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Clarity on that point:  These are harmonized methodologies for historic utilities.  This is an illustrative-purpose, best understanding of how those harmonized policies would have been applied in this harmonized or amalgamated entity.  So they were appropriate, reasonable, and approved by the OEB historically, but, in the new amalgamated entity as referenced in our guiding principle, that they have a single harmonized rate was critical.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's correct, but you didn't choose, for example, the Union methodology, the old Union methodology; you didn't pick the old Enbridge Gas Distribution methodology, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  In either entirety, no.



MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You picked a new methodology?



MR. HEALEY:  A new methodology that leveraged many pieces from historic, approved methodologies.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the result is a higher capitalization rate than would have been based on the old methodologies, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.  I'm just highlighting that I do not see them as equal.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go to page 73 of the compendium.  Now, this is a capitalization and common corporate costs review that Hydro One had undertaken by PwC and was filed in Hydro One's joint rate application.  Do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In fact, I believe it was ordered by the OEB to undertake such a study; is that fair?

MR. HEALEY:  That's my understanding of reading the document, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And one of the things that was part of this, as I understand, was a benchmarking exercise?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, if we can go to page 81 of the compendium, we see Hydro One was compared to various other Canadian companies; do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there were two that were, two other ones that were similarly on US GAAP?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And one of those was Enbridge Gas, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we see and we compare them, Hydro One's rate was 18 percent; do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Fortis, BC, also on US GAAP, that was 15 percent.  Do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what it is showing then for Enbridge is it is showing the two pre-amalgamation companies [audio dropout] 22 percent for Enbridge and 14 percent for Union; do I have that right?

MR. HEALEY:  That is what it's saying, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  As I understand, your capitalization rate would be higher than that?

MR. HEALEY:  That depends.  What I mean by that is, if you were to go to -- I apologize, I don't have the compendium number but page 16 of 32 of the Hydro One report.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Uh-hmm.

MR. HEALEY:  Yes, that's the slide.  That's the page.  So, before I make an additional clarity or point here, I do want to point out that the Hydro One report is solely dedicated to common corporate costs, what we would equate to shared services; it's not all-encompassing, so, in reference to our total aggregate effective rate for overhead capitalization, I don't believe it to be one and the same.  So the clarity, if you were to apply our harmonized methodology and our interpretation of the definitions put forth in this document and looked at metric one, so they reference -- if you see 208 for overhead cost capitalized, that is solely in reference to common corporate cost.  Our number coming from -- I believe it's Staff-55, is 72.6.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, percent?

MR. HEALEY:  No, millions of dollars.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.

MR. HEALEY:  And then, total common corporate costs, the number I have is 238.3 million.  So, in doing that calculation, our rate in comparison to Hydro One in our interpretation of this document is 30 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct, they didn't make that, they didn't use that [audio dropout]; correct?

MR. HEALEY:  We --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For the Canadian companies; correct?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.  They used the ANG (ph) methodology for the US GAAP.  Is that the reference?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand, they used the metric 2 to compare against the Canadian companies, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, and based on --


MR. HEALEY:  If we -- if we move to the Canadian metric --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Uh-hmm?

MR. HEALEY:  -- so using that same number I previously referenced of $72.6 million --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Uh-hmm.

MR. HEALEY:  -- and the total OM&A using SEC 103, table 1, is 1,045,000,000.8, so that metric equates to 6.9 percent using the US -- or, sorry, my apologies, using the Canadian metric.  When applying both metrics, our rate only looking at shared services, which we believe to be the frame of reference to the common corporate cost as delineated by the Hydro One report, both rates are lower than what Hydro One is stating here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Your interpretation of what they're stating, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  That is correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you would agree with me that PwC, when they did their report, didn't use those numbers, correct?

MR. HEALEY:  They would not have our amalgamated rate for 2024 for this proceeding because of the timing of the report, inclusive of the Union Gas report capitalization study.  We were unable to find that public record of that document sharing such information.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we turn to page 108 of the compendium.  This is the settlement agreement.  I just want to make sure I understand your position on a couple of issues.  If we can go to the top, it says:
"Parties agree that the gross O&M budget is reasonable in the context of the proposed capital budget before updates of --" 1.491 million, four one, sorry, one-four-nine-one million.  "It will be open for parties to argue that a different capitalized overhead amount would be appropriate if a different overhead capitalization methodology is approved and/or a different capital budget is approved."

Do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then continuing, it says:
"In the event that the OEB approves a capitalized overhead amount that is different from the," two-ninety-two, "million, all parties agree that any resulting adjustment of the O&M budget envelope to account for the reduced/increased portions of the gross O&M being recovered as capitalized overhead is an item for parties to argue and the OEB to consider."

Do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if the OEB makes a change to the capitalization methodology or the amount as a result -- as the -- based on a different capital budget, I take it that your position is that amount should then be moved to O&M.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.  I think you can reference my opening statements that reference that movement.  So yes, our -- let me reiterate, sorry.  That stumbled a little bit.

The short answer, yes, our position is that it would change the portion of net O&M.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you would agree with me, the settlement leaves open parties to make -- for you to make that argument and for other parties to say that shouldn't occur.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So if the OEB says you should do less capital, are you essentially saying that, well, we are still going to need all those resources that would be capitalized, and you need to -- so you have to include them in O&M?

MR. HEALEY:  The clarity is this panel is not speaking to the gross O&M dollar figure; it's the proportionate rate.  My apologies.  To clarify, when I say rate, I am typically -- and I will try to be more detailed going forward -- the capitalization or overhead capitalization rate.  That is what we are referencing.

So it would be an assessment of how much O&M relates to capital support work.  So the gross O&M number is not anticipated to change as a result of the references you made in the settlement.

 So by a rate -- my apologies, again -- an overhead capitalization rate change would interpret or determine how much of gross O&M is moved into capital.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if the Board says you should make a material reduction to your capital budget, as I understand based on your own methodology, for example, the business unit groups and then the other shared services which has a derivative -- that has a derivative impact on shared services and pension benefits -- there would be a reduction in the amount of overhead capitalized amounts.  Right?

MR. HEALEY:  What we would do is better understand the detail of the reduction in the capital program, because it is nuance based and, as noted, I think it is comforting that, because of that cost casualty, you would need to understand the specific changes in the capital program to interpret how much capitalized overhead should be reduced, if applicable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, if it is reduced based on the methodology, is it your proposal then that difference should go into O&M amount?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And recovered from ratepayers?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so what you are saying then is if there is a reduction in the capital amount, there is no change in the gross O&M budget?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so what you are saying is there is less capital work; you need the exact same amount of engineers in the asset management group, you need the exact same amount of individuals supporting major projects and so on?

MR. HEALEY:  Once again, that would be determined as a result of understanding the change in the capital program itself, and applying this methodology as written.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, let's go back.

MR. HEALEY:  Certainly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You said to me if, after you do that assessment, you make a determination that there is a reduction in capitalized overhead.  You say the difference should go into O&M.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So gross O&M doesn't change?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so I am asking you, isn't the implication of what you are saying is, in that situation, there is no reduction in actual costs.  You need the same amount of people doing oversight on a capital project.  You need the same engineers on asset management; it just shows up in the O&M category, not the capital.  That is the implication of what you are saying?

MR. HEALEY:  I am saying the fundamental premise of overhead capitalization is determining the portion of O&M gross that relates to capital work.  So if, as a result of this hearing, hypothetically, that the rate changed, then that implies that not as much or more cost should remain in O&M.  Or be moved to capital.

I can't speak to the increase or decrease resulting from a change in portfolio on the gross O&M side.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What you are saying is regardless of what reduction the Board makes or could make to capital -- maybe it doesn't make any, but if it makes a material reduction -- and there is a change in a capitalization rate because of that, you should recover the same amount of gross O&M.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  If I can give an example?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, is it yes, and then you can give the example?

MR. HEALEY:  All things being equal and nothing changing as a result of the utilization of this methodology, it would remain that way.  Yes.

The clarification, if I may add:  If you had a severe or significant reduction in capital, there could be implicit impact on the gross O&M number to increase that.

An example would be if you chose to reduce your purchases in your policy, and purchases of fleet or trucks, you would implicitly increase or anticipate an increase in your gross O&M maintenance related to your aging fleet.

I think that's just one example.  It is not as simple as I -- I believe, not as simple as saying, if it goes up, it should just change.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So what you are saying is if there is a reduction in capital work, if there is an increase in O&M somewhere, in a different type of cost, that's the example you are providing?

MR. HEALEY:  I am giving an example of where that could occur.  But I am not requesting anywhere that that gross O&M would change.

 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I don't recall seeing any evidence on the record that talks about, if the OEB reduces this amount of capital budget, our O&M is going to increase here.  Am I missing something? I didn't see anything.

MR. HEALEY:  No, you are not.  What I am saying is that is an example of a situation that we would need to better understand to determine the capital activity in relation to gross O&M.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you make a material increase in your capital budget from historical amounts, I would presume that you need to hire some new people to deal with oversight of that capital work, correct, for example?

MR. HEALEY:  I don't think, once again, it's -- I don't think it is universally applied in the sense of we don't have a workforce that is determined as, if you go up by a million dollars, you will require two new FTEs in order to support and therefore increase those costs.

 MS. RUBENSTEIN:  I am not saying it is linear or it is a one-to-one relationship.  But there is a relationship.  Fair?

MR. HEALEY:  I believe there is a relationship, both ways, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  But in your proposal of treatment in the both-ways aspect, if there is a reduction, you are proposing no change in the gross O&M budget?  I am not saying there is a one-to-one reduction; I am not saying its perfectly linear.  But you are saying there is no relationship.

MR. HEALEY:  Let's me just confer for a moment.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. HEALEY:  Thank you.  So I think what I want to clarify is that this panel is anticipating speaking to the change in the rate itself.  The impact on gross O&M as a result of whatever the hearing may result in would be outside of our ability to speak to.

I cannot speak to the change in gross O&M hypothetically, short of the example I gave, to say that there could be movement.  Yes, I would say we are only speaking to the rate itself.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Ms. Yan, I believe your title was manager of operations and maintenance, or something to that effect?  Do I have that right?

 MS. YAN:  Yes.

 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It seems you can speak to this.

MS. YAN:  I cannot.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  We will leave it at there.

Thank you, very much, for your...

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

Mr. Brophy, I think you are up next.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  I have the microphone pointing directly towards me.  Hopefully, everyone can hear me well.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy:


MR. BROPHY:  Good afternoon, Commissioners and panel.  My name is Michael Brophy.  I am here on behalf of Pollution Probe.

Last week, Pollution Probe filed compendium part 3, so perhaps we could get an exhibit number for that?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes.  That compendium will be K15.5.
EXHIBIT K15.5:  POLLUTION PROBE PART 3 COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 14.


MR. BROPHY:  Thank you, for that.  And I should be referring primarily to that compendium, unless we need to go to some of the other ancillary materials.  And if we can pull up Pollution Probe compendium, part 3, page 3, we will see table 1 right there on the screen.  Great.  Thank you.

This table indicates that Enbridge's proposed capitalization rate in 2024 is just under 25 per cent -- or sorry, 2023, is just under 25 per cent.  And it is proposed to grow to just under 30 per cent by 2025; is that correct?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct, what the table is saying, but I want to clarify that this table is inclusive of O&M that we've already spoken -- that we've been speaking to, but it also includes direct loadings and interest during construction.  So, when looking at this rate, it's inclusive of more than the overhead allocation that we're speaking to here.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, fair enough.  And that goes on to my clarification question here.  The numbers in the overhead percentages, at 25 percent, give or take, going up to 30, that includes indirect overheads or just direct overheads?

MR. HEALEY:  In this table?

MR. BROPHY:  Correct.

MR. HEALEY:  This table is inclusive of -- as noted in the second note -- O&M loadings and interest during construction.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh.  So it's only indirect overheads, then, the O&M loadings?

MR. HEALEY:  It is the O&M component, as well as loadings associated with direct labour and interest during construction.  So there are three items here, where this panel is only speaking to overhead capitalization, specifically to O&M.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And we'll go to an exhibit in a few minutes, with some real projects, and I think those are the three same categories where there were, I think, direct overheads, indirect overheads, and then loadings, I think were the terminology.

MR. HEALEY:  Right.

MR. BROPHY:  So there are three things being added on that impact the increase of costs that are being capitalized.  Is that correct?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  My understanding is that, for the 24.6 going to the 29.2 overhead percent, the majority of those numbers are the overhead amounts.  I don't think you provided a breakdown that shows how much of it is interest during construction or loadings.  Right?

MR. HEALEY:  Not in this exhibit.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  So would it be fair to say that the percentages there are mostly due to the overheads, the indirect overheads?

MR. HEALEY:  Based on the numbers, a large component would be overheads, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, mostly driven by the overheads.  Okay.  And if we can go to page 2, which is the response to Pollution Probe 30.  And, under part (c) -- hang on a second.  Actually, maybe we'll finish this off first.

So, talking about the overhead loadings that we just talked about, if Enbridge were to get incremental capital approval for projects over the rebasing term, would you expect that there would be additional indirect overheads that Enbridge would also get, related to those projects?  Or are the amounts for things like the O&M amounts that you talked about with Mr. Rubenstein earlier already covered; therefore, you wouldn't need to add incremental indirect overheads on them?

MR. HEALEY:  I see it as a hypothetical question at this stage, as I don't believe we're applying or signalling to request ICM, but capitalized overhead is calculated in aggregate, or total amount.  That is then allocated amongst the projects, inclusive of ICM projects.

MR. BROPHY:  So it's allocated to your projects, but, given that you don't know if you're going to apply for, or get, ICM approval, it needs to be covered in the projects that are in your approved capital envelope.  Correct?

MR. HEALEY:  Overhead would be a competent of the ICM application for that specific project.  And our understanding is the Board directed that ICM projects are to be fully burdened when they're considered, so inclusive of overhead capitalization.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Do you have a reference for that, if that's a Board requirement?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.  I believe it's from the 2019 rates application.  I've never referenced a rates application before, so I apologize if this is incorrect, but it's a decision in order EB-2018-0305; oh, conveniently on the screen.  And then if we go to page 29, section 4.3.5.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, so which sentence?  Maybe you can help me with that.

MR. HEALEY:  My apologies.  Scroll down; my apologies.  It says:
"The OEB approves the inclusion of indirect overheads in the ICM projects.  The OEB accepts Enbridge Gas's explanation that an ICM funding request is based on fully burdened costs."

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And this was a previous rebasing application decision.  Is that...?

MR. HEALEY:  2019 rates application.

MR. BROPHY:  2019 rates application.  So then you believe that anything approved in the 2019 rates application should be carried over to the current rebasing period automatically?

MR. HEALEY:  Not whatsoever.  As I said, I don't think we have requested, nor applied, for ICM projects in the submitted AMP, so I'm referring to the most recent precedent in which an ICM was referenced inclusive of burdening.  I'm just citing historic versus implying anything.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, fair enough.  Thank you for that.

And, on page 2 of the compendium -- so this was, I think, the part (b) of Pollution Probe 30 -- Pollution Probe had asked:
"Can you confirm that capitalization of overheads under US GAAP is only allowed when a regulatory decision is in place."

So, you know, it requires OEB approval.

I think you've covered that with Mr. Rubenstein, and perhaps others, confirming yes, that's true, and you can't capitalize overheads unless you have specific OEB approval.  I think I have that right.

MR. HEALEY:  We cannot capitalize indirect overhead, correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So it's just indirect, but you can apply direct overheads without OEB approval?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.  Well, I shouldn't say that with certainty in that fashion.  What I'm saying is that it's an application of ASC 360 costs incurred to bring an asset to its intended use, is the reference I'm making.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So this reference is only in relation to indirect overheads, I think is what you're saying.  Is that right?

MR. HEALEY:  That is correct, yes.  And, to further clarify, it is not related to, on your previous page in the compendium, the reference to loadings and interest during construction.  Those are outside of this reference.  It is solely related to overhead allocation.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you for that.

And do you believe that there needs to be specific wording in the OEB's decision in order to allow you to do that?  Or do you believe that, since Enbridge is requesting it in the application, if the OEB is silent, then you automatically get to apply these indirect overheads as capital?

MR. HEALEY:  I'm sorry, I can't speak to the formalized requirement.  I think we are seeking approval, so we would anticipate it.  Not anticipate; I'm not being presumptuous in that statement.  What I mean is I would be anticipating a response to that request for approval.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So it sounds like there would have to be something explicit in the decision to allow you to do that.  Is that correct?

MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, to interrupt, Mr. Brophy, but I think it would depend upon the wording of the decision.  And the Panel may decide to give certain approvals with language that may not be as explicit as you're suggesting here, but, you know, the company has applied for approval of a harmonized methodology and if, for example, simply the rates component of it was approved, we would, I would suspect, treat that as an approval for the methodology.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, that's what I understood Enbridge's position was, so, unless there's a variance from what that is, then --


MR. HEALEY:  I have nothing to add.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you for that.

MR. HEALEY:  Thank you.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  If we can go to page 5 of the compendium, and this is JT5.33.  These are some of the real projects that I was talking about earlier, wherein overheads were applied to the three groupings that you talked about and you confirmed the groupings.  If we just go maybe down slightly, there is a legend there with colour coding.  That is now on the screen, so that's great.  So thank you for that.

Every time I look at this summary, I still feel a little confused, but it's been very helpful so far.  The question I have here today is:  There's yellow highlighting on some of the projects, and, if you look at the legend, it says that means the project is not allocated indirect overheads, and then your reference before seemed to indicate that you thought you were supposed to allocate all overheads, so why would some of these projects not have that applied?

MR. HEALEY:  So, in examples such as -- I want to get my wording correctly.  This is not one of this panel's tables, so I apologize to look here again.  Community expansion, my understanding of the support function costs are separate from overheads to be allocated, and so what you're seeing there is support functions that would be deemed directly attributable to those areas.  They wouldn't have support functions outside, that need to be further burdened on those costs.

MR. BROPHY:  So, using Mr. Rubenstein's example, the, you know, engineers in the engineering group that are indirect overheads wouldn't be working on those projects; is that --


MR. HEALEY:  Not the remaining portion of overheads to be allocated or the remaining portion of gross O&M.  What I'm saying is the cost associated to support those functions are tracked and therefore are directly attributable to those.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, so the costs are already covered, so you don't need to add them again onto those projects because they're covered?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  No, that's great.  And tell me if this goes beyond what your knowledge is, but, as you said, those are expansion projects.  We had talked about other panels, the capital panel, about those types of projects not being in the asset management plan, being outside the asset management plan.  So was it fair to say that indirect overheads would typically only apply to the projects in the asset management plan and if there are ones outside they wouldn't?  Or is that too much of an extrapolation?

MR. HEALEY:  Umm...  I would have to validate that.  I want to give a response, but I would like to validate that.

MR. O'LEARY:  We'd be happy to give that undertaking.

MR. RICHLER:  J15.4.
UNDERTAKING J15.4:  TO VALIDATE WHETHER OR NOT INDIRECT OVERHEADS WOULD TYPICALLY ONLY APPLY TO THE PROJECTS IN THE ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you for that.  Some of these questions were covered under Mr. Rubenstein, so I'm just going to try to skip some of them.  Okay.  I guess to start with, a simple question -- I think I know the answer, but I'll just validate it:  So adding the overheads to the capital projects increases the amount being capitalized, right?

MR. HEALEY:  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Right.  What I was trying to figure out is there are, as you mentioned, three different classes of costs, overheads and loadings that get applied to certain capital projects.  Some of those costs, like direct overheads, may have some linkage, and the others don't really appear to have a linkage directly with the project.  So I'm wondering why Enbridge wouldn't use something like an activity-based costing approach where you're only applying costs to projects that actually relate to those projects.  Why apply costs that really have nothing to do with the projects on top of the projects and make those capital costs?

MR. HEALEY:  I think the clarity is that directly attributable costs can be clearly identified and traced to the specifics of the capital project in reference.  Overheads are related to costs that are not as clearly identifiable in how they relate to each specific project.  If they were clearly identifiable, that would make them direct, but, in this case, they're not.

So a common practice with overhead capitalization methodology is to determine a rate that's deemed reasonable to allocate said costs to the greater population of projects.  So, once again, if they were directly attributable, that's how we would assign them, and I would say the relation or the driver in determination of the capital amount is that cost causality link that we reference.  So, in your case, an activity-based logic in the time study for business costs, for example, you would determine how much of a person's time related to capital activity, but they do not have the ability to say how much of that capital activity relates to each specific project.
MR. BROPHY:  Okay, it is just too hard for you to use something like an activity-based costing approach because you'd have to link it to the specific projects?

MR. HEALEY:  I don't know if the wording choice I would use is too hard.  What I am saying is it would be expensive and administratively burdensome to time sheet in order to directly associate a cost to a project, and, historically, we're -- the requirement as we understand it is to determine a reasonable methodology, and I think a time-sheeting exercise would be over and above the definition of reasonable.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  You probably are familiar that a large part of this proceeding dealt with things like energy transition, potential for stranded assets, appropriate amortization periods, et cetera, and part of the reason some of those issues are hot topics is that, when costs get capitalized, they're on the books for quite a period of time.  It was up to about 40 years traditionally.  I think Enbridge is asking up to 65 years for some capitalization rates now.  And, to reduce those risks, you can reduce the capital amounts for the periods, so reducing capital amounts would seem to make sense, using activity-based costing approach, not having those amounts go onto the capital projects and be treated, say, O&M or however else would be more appropriate.  Do you have any comments on why that shouldn't be considered?

MR. HEALEY:  I think the clarity, from my perspective, the rate as determined on an annual basis and updated to reflect capital activity is applied to actual costs, so, in the year that -- in reference, so in 2024, this methodology will be applied to the capital activity actually performed.  Those capital projects will follow whatever the outcome of, for example, the reference to capitalization rates or depreciation rates as an outcome of this proceeding.  Those overhead costs are allocated to the specific capital projects and would follow suit with the applicable depreciation rates.

I guess what I'm saying is what we're speaking to here is a method in determining allocation of cost to asset classes, applying its reference to actuals.  So this is a methodology that's applied to an outcome.  So if the depreciation rate was to change, this methodology wouldn't negate or change that, if energy transition resulted in a differing rate, for example, in your reference.  This would just allocate a cost to those categories, which are determined elsewhere.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, okay.  Thank you, for that.

Is it fair to say that if the indirect overheads were treated as O&M rather than capital, then it would make the stranded asset issue related to those costs go away?

MR. HEALEY:  I don't think I can speak to that.

MR. BROPHY:  Fair enough, if that is outside your area.  Okay.

And Mr. O'Leary had asked the panel a few questions at the beginning, and it sounded like if the OEB does not allow Enbridge to allocate some of these costs, like indirect overheads to capital, then Enbridge would have two options to consider.

One would be to argue that they should be treated in the O&M budget, which I think you talked about with Mr. Rubenstein.  And the other option would be to reduce costs in the O&M bucket through efficiencies or whatever other process, so that the overall O&M can accommodate whatever costs Enbridge has in those years.

Are those the only two options?  Or are there other options?

MR. HEALEY:  I don't think I can add any more colour to the opening statement.

I think, although the second is presented as an option, our anticipation or expectation is as you referenced in my opening comments.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Okay, thank you, very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  I think VECC is up next, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  I am certainly prepared to go next.  I didn't think it was me, but thank you.  That's fine.

My name is Mark Garner.  I am with the VECC, Vulnerable Energy Consumer Coalition, and we represent low-income ratepayers.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Garner, I am sorry, I did skip over Pollution Probe?


MR. GARNER:  I was wondering, and I was hoping to take -- but, by all means.  I will cede...

MR. MORAN:  Would you like to go next, Mr. Ladanyi?  Or are you okay if Mr. Garner proceeds?

MR. LAKHA:  Yes, I would like to go next.  I thought, not only does the camera not find me, but even the Chair can't find me.

MR. GARNER:  And I apologize for taking advantage of that.  So...

MR. MORAN:  We may have to pay for therapy after this, for Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  That is right.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Mr. Ladanyi, my apologies.  Go ahead.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So good afternoon, Commissioners and the panel.  Most of you know me.  My name is Tom Ladanyi, I am a consultant representing Energy Probe.

May we have an exhibit number for the Energy Probe panel 14 compendium, please?

MR. RICHLER:  Yes.  That will be K15.6.
EXHIBIT K15.6:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 14.


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I would like to continue where we left off at a technical conference in March, and I think Mr. Healey was there.  Can we go to the transcript of the March 27, 2023 technical conference?  It is at the back of my compendium.  And actually, I would like to go to the bottom of page 46.  So it is page 68; go up a bit, to page 46.  There we have it, at the bottom.  Thank you.

Here, I asked the witnesses if overhead costs were charged to materials, and you said that they were.  So could you explain to me why overhead costs would be charged to materials?

MR. HEALEY:  I believe the metric used for overhead capitalization is to apply a portion of overhead to a direct capital amount.  The delineation of materials versus labour is not the allocation method.

MR. LADANYI:  So that you mentioned cost causality a little while ago, so that you don't actually follow the cost causality down to the level of materials versus labour, do you?

MR. HEALEY:  Cost causality is the driver of the creation of the overhead capitalization rate versus the application of that rate to O&M costs.

MR. LADANYI:  So you don't actually take into account the difficulty of an activity.  For example, I thought, well, pipes should be pretty easy to order.  I mean, it should be like ordering a book on Amazon; there is nothing much to it.  But you don't actually look at a difficulty of an activity?

MR. HEALEY:  In reference to difficulty of activity, I think that would be inherent in the cost causality in developing the rate itself, in the effort the groups would associate with a category.

So in the time study, for example, in business cost, people determine their time and effort associated with a capital activity as a whole.  And then you allocate that capital overhead capitalization component to the aggregate spend, as a measure of the -- what would I say? -- a measure of the outcome or allocation.

MR. LADANYI:  That is interesting.  So ordering something really complicated, like for example a compressor for one of the compressor stations, which has obviously complicated specifications and involves several engineers, would have exactly the same rate as ordering a piece of pipe?

MR. HEALEY:  When applying a rate of this -- how would I say? -- certainly.  My apologies.  If you can repeat that last question?

MR. LADANYI:  I said ordering something complicated like a compressor that would be used in a compressor station, you know, a jet engine and the turbine and all the other components, would have the same overhead capitalization rate as ordering something simple, like a piece of pipe?

MR. HEALEY:  That's correct.  What I would say though is the impractical ability to determine each part of labour or materials associated with that ordering activity is excessively more than our historic methodologies of coming up with an overhead capitalization rate when it comes to determining a reasonable methodology.

If someone was ordering that for a particular project and they were directly associated with that project, that time would reflect, accurately, direct time and effort associated with that ordering.

MR. LADANYI:  But not indirect overheads?

MR. HEALEY:  That is correct, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  You know, in new compendium, I have an example of a cost estimate for a project.  It was filed in June and it should follow your current overhead capitalization policy.  And can we turn to the cost estimate for the Panhandle Regional Panhandle Project, which is EB-2O22-0157, Exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 2, page 1, updated 2023/06/16?  And it is the second item in the compendium.

And before the counsel objects -- I can see Mr. O'Leary is getting kind of anxious -- I want to point out that I will not ask any questions about the project.  All my questions will be about the method used to calculate indirect overheads.

Yes, that is the table.  Thank you for turning it up.  Let's have it horizontal, so we can actually see it. So all my questions will be about the method used to calculate indirect overheads, which are shown on line 8 of that table.

Since you witnesses are responsible for the method used in calculating indirect overheads, would you be able to answer some basic questions about how, whoever did the table -- I presume you didn't do it, somebody at Enbridge did that table -- must have been following your procedures and processes to put together this table.  Would I be right?

MR. HEALEY:  I believe so, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, very good.  In the total column, line 2, labour is listed at $3.8 million.  You can see it in the total column?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Would that be Enbridge employees' labour?

MR. HEALEY:  I believe everything above the row 7 listed as "Total direct capital cost" would be costs associated directly with the project.  So, labour, I would anticipate, yes, because outside services line 4 is a separately identified line item.

MR. LADANYI:  So "outside services" would be the contractor.

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  This is a large project.  I don't think Enbridge employees would be building this.  Okay, very good.

So what would be the burden rate applied to the labour, line 2?  Would it be 41.7 percent?

MR. HEALEY:  If, in your example, you are assuming this is a -- it depends on the year.  So the 41.7 burden rate that you are referencing is for 2023 and 2024, I believe.

Capitalized labour would -- my apologies, the clarity here is it would be burdened with the 41.7, but that would be considered loadings, as referenced in the last discussion.  That would be a difference between loadings and the pension and benefits burden for indirect.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So, by my calculations, if you take $3.8 million times .0417, you get $1.58 million; subject to check, obviously.  Would this $1.58 million be inside the $68.8 million indirect overheads on line 9?

MR. HEALEY:  Without certainty, it would not in be the $68.8.  Loadings associated with burdening of direct capital would be outside of overhead allocation.

MR. LADANYI:  So where would that $1.58 million be in this table?  It's got to be in there somewhere.

MR. HEALEY:  I would anticipate $39.8 million is gross, inclusive of the burdening component, or direct.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, very good.  Well, that's helpful.  So what overhead capitalization rates would you apply to other cost categories?  We have, for example, materials.  What rate would you apply to materials?

MR. HEALEY:  Once again, I think there is a fundamental disconnect here.  Direct capital costs are shown as capital.  Remaining costs in O&M that are not directly allocated are then allocated to the project.  So there is no redundancy or duplication of a line item that may be showing from rows 1 to 7 that is also showing in row 8.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  I'm now very confused, but maybe you'll clarify it.  So if you look at line 7, total direct capital costs, it shows $289.2 million.  So do you multiply this by some kind of a capitalization rate to get $68.8 million?

MR. HEALEY:  You would apply the -- once again, it would be at the asset class level that you would allocate overheads.  So you wouldn't then --


MS. YAN:  Mr. Ladanyi, if I can clarify, the 68.8 is not derived from the 289.2 direct capital cost.  The 68.8, if I were to use an example, I'm not sure what year this table has been produced for, but for 2024, we're asking for $310 million.  This is before the settlement amount.  That would be allocated -- that overhead amount would then be allocated to asset class and, further down, to project costs.

So that 68 is from -- if we can back it up, it's our O&M, gross O&M amount, multiplied by our capitalization rates in our four categories.  And then that total amount that comes up to $310 million would then get further allocated to the various asset classes.  And within the asset class are contained individual projects.

MR. LADANYI:  So the $68.8 million is completely unrelated to the total direct capital cost of 289.2.  Is that right?

MS. YAN:  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  And it comes from some other calculation that's somewhere else?

MS. YAN:  It comes from -- so our gross O&M, as Mr. Healey was explaining earlier, we do in our four-bucketed
-- we come up with our overhead capitalization rates that determine what proportion of O&M is related to overhead capital work.  And then, using that percentage, we then multiply it by the gross O&M and we come up with the overhead capitalization amount.

MR. LADANYI:  So you have many projects in this
year -- and I don't know what year this is; we're discussing principles -- and you allocate these indirect overheads based on, what, some kind of proration to these projects?

I'm still troubled by there being no connection between the direct capital costs and the indirect overheads.

MR. HEALEY:  I think what we're saying is the allocation of the -- let's look at main lines; so the first column, $48 million.  That $48 million is allocated to that asset class, or main line asset class, based on the total spend of the $199.5.

So, as Ms. Yan referenced, the total overhead capitalization is calculated, and then that is allocated amongst the asset classes based on the forecasted spend by asset class.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Well, I'll have to think about this.  I have to move on because I'm worried I'm going to run out of time.

So I want to turn to Ernst & Young, because I think you have been ignored so far.  So I have some questions for you.  If you can turn to my interrogatory, Energy Probe 23, which is EB-2022-0200, Exhibit I2.4-EP-23, and it is near the back of my compendium.  I'm sorry, the pages are not numbered.  There we go.  That's fine, thank you.

And that refers to, by the way, if you go further, like scroll up, you will see that's referring to Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 2, attachment 1, pages 21 to 25, which is your report.

You are familiar with that?

MR. LAKHA:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  In the preamble to the question, I quoted from the EY report.  It says:
"Documented all costs centres and calculated the overhead percentage for each one based on raw data provided by the company and further segmented the cost centres into the various departments within the organization."

So, if you can go to your table, which is -- on page 1 of the table, keep going.  It is the next exhibit.  Go to the table.  Keep going.  It's the appendix.  Not in this -- it's the next exhibit in the compendium, please.   There it is, thank you.  So if you go halfway down the table; okay, keep going down.

Yes.  Right at the bottom, you can see regulatory affairs.  Just using this as an example.  I don't want to pick on regulatory affairs, but we see 19.8 percent.  Do you see that?

MR LAKHA:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Could you explain how you arrived at this 19.8 percent, since you did the calculations.

MR. LAKHA:  Yes, I can, absolutely.  So maybe I'll take a step back for the moment, outside of the context of that particular line item.

When we talk about data received from management, that would be the total pool of costs that exists within individual departments.  Depending where that department lived in the three buckets, be it an operational cost, be it a business cost, be it a shared services cost, the respective rate is then applied to determine what the capitalization is going to be.

So the column that you are referencing, the 19.8 percent, I believe, in the actual capital rate, that would be a derivation in the case of business costs of the time the study was completed to determine what the rate would be and then ultimately apply to the pool of costs.

MR. LADANYI:  So did Enbridge give you these time study results?  Did they give you some tables with numbers on them and then you did the calculations with them?

MR. LAKHA:  Yes, Enbridge prepared a time study that was submitted to all of the manager groups within the groups that were identified as business costs.  The individuals documented the activities.  Management in coordination with our assistance determined what is capital and what's O&M.  That was determined outside of the individuals responsible of the activities, and then a rate was then established based on that, based on that determination, and there were countless Excel files.

MR. LADANYI:  So, as I understand your report, Enbridge gave you the numbers, then you applied Enbridge's methodology on adding up the numbers and dividing them, whatever, and you came up with something.  So, I mean, your role was really strictly arithmetic, wasn't it?

MR. LAKHA:  I would say it's more than that.  So, arithmetic was a part of your role.  In addition to that, we brought alternatives, leading practices to the table, for example, thinking through geographic considerations given you now have an amalgamated entity that spans a larger geographic area.  We discussed the use of time-study analysis where it made sense.  We looked at composite ratios.  We looked at burdening and loadings to ensure there is a greater drive for causality through the capital activity, and so we assisted management in those considerations as they ultimately selected a methodology.  Once they selected the methodology, we then assisted with the arithmetic.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, I might have a lot of questions on a lot of numbers, but, because I'm running out of time, I'm not going to ask them specifically.  I think I'm getting a general idea.  So, in my -- back to Energy Probe 23.  I asked:  Did EGI provide EY the overhead percentages calculated by EY staff?  If the answer is yes, are the percentages calculated by EY the same as the percentages of overhead calculated by EGI?  And your answer was:
"No, Enbridge Gas did not provide EY with overhead percentages calculated by Enbridge Gas staff under the harmonized capitalization methodology."

So perhaps I didn't ask the right kind of question, so I will try it now.  I would like to ask you a clarification question.  Are the percentages calculated by EY the same as the percentages calculated by EGI in every single category shown on pages 21 to 25 of your report?

MR. LAKHA:  In the year 2020, which is when this report was published, EY calculated the rates as mentioned in that interrogatory response.  Management probably then validated that and determined our rates were consistent with their calculation, and so the rates would be consistent, yes, unless there was a difference that was found.

MR. LADANYI:  So, again, I'm trying to understand:  Did you calculate the numbers and give them to Enbridge and they looked at it and said it's okay, or did both of you calculate numbers at the same time and then compare them?

MR. LAKHA:  So there are multiple steps to the process.  The table that you are referring to in appendix 2 of the report is the last step in that process, which is take the total cost, determine capital, and get to a singular rate.  EY calculated that.  The inputs that feed into that calculation, for example operational cost, capital spend, time-study analysis, some of that was completed by management.  But, ultimately, EY came up with the rate that was determined based on the methodology selected.  Management likely also calculated those rates, but the same rates were applied.

MR. LADANYI:  And there was no disagreement, at all, between your numbers and their numbers, or they, did you -- I mean it was a hundred percent agreement; is that right?

MR. LAKHA:  Yes, because, in essence, the numbers used as inputs would be the same, so, if I determine capital costs to be XYZ, that's an input for management's system, and we'd have those same numbers.  So, as long as our understanding of the methodology is the same, it is reasonable that our numbers would be the same, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Now, I want to move to something else.  I'll have to study this, your answers, and see what I can do with it in argument, but let's go to the next item.  Can we go to Exhibit I2.4-CCC-39?  It is in the middle of my compendium.  Can we go -- yes, so we can see the numbers.  Please go down.  First, the question that was asked by -- and I'll read the question first.  CCC asked for the O&M impact in 2024 due to the change in overhead capitalization methodology.  I think this was covered earlier today, but I just want to ask you a few supplementary questions.  And your answer shows that O&M is reduced by 15.4 million.  So does that mean that the capital is increased by 15.4 million?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes, in comparison to the two rates.

MR. LADANYI:  So do shareholders earn an equity return on capital but not on O&M?

MR. HEALEY:  Can you repeat that?  Sorry.

MR. LADANYI:  I said:  Do shareholders of Enbridge earn an equity return on capital but not on O&M?  O&M is a pass-through cost; capital has an equity component, so I would think that that's an easy question, really.

MR. HEALEY:  We'll confer for a moment.

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. HEALEY:  Although the question may sound simple, I'm not sure that I can respond to that question.

MR. KITCHEN:  This is Mark Kitchen.  At the risk of giving evidence, yes, the answer is yes, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you, Mr. Kitchen.  So are shareholders better off if more costs are capitalized instead of expensed as O&M?  Again, it is a very basic, simple question.  Maybe Mr. Kitchen can help us again.

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Ladanyi, I think that's probably overstepping, so my preference would be to take an undertaking.

MR. LADANYI:  All right.  I'll ask my next question, which is on this particular interrogatory.  So, is it in the interest of shareholders to maximize the capitalization rate?  Is it not?

MR. HEALEY:  I, just to add one comment, I can't speak fully to the application of rates, is why I'm hesitant on my response in that part.  What I'm saying:  From an overhead capitalization component, the fundamental principles to determine the most accurate, within a reason reasonable methodology, portion that relates to capital work, so the fundamental concept is to ensure accurate capital activity is reported.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I'll put that question to a rate-setting panel in Phase 2 if there's a hearing for that.  Now, can we go to --


MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, do you still want us to respond, then, or...

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I don't know.  You can respond in writing if you prefer, or you can wait until I get to a...

MR. MORAN:  Mr. O'Leary, if I may translate the question, I think Mr. Ladanyi is simply asking:  If you put more stuff into rate base, the shareholder makes more money.  Do you have a question?

MR. KITCHEN:  The simple answer to that question is yes.  I'm just not really -- I don't feel comfortable giving evidence.

MR. MORAN:  That's fair enough.  I think it's so basic that it's not an issue in this particular case.  Mr. Ladanyi, I think you have your answer.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Can we now go to another exhibit.  It is first exhibit in my compendium, and again I apologize they are organized in this way.  There was some logic to it initially.  Can we go to EB-2022-0157, Exhibit I, Staff-15?  And I did not actually include the entire interrogatory because I'm only interested in question A and answer A.  So, question A, this is from Board Staff:
"Please explain why indirect overhead is not included as part of cash outflows in the DCF analysis.  As a part of the response, please provide a reference to the E.B.O. 134 report of the Board."

And can we go to the response?  And the response from Enbridge was:
"E.B.O. 134 report of the Board states, 'The Board finds that the incremental costs should be used in evaluating the feasibility of a system expansion.'  Indirect overhead is not an incremental cost and has therefore not been included in the DCF analysis."

Do you see that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  So, if indirect overhead is not an incremental cost as you rightly point out here, why should it be included in the incremental capital module or ICM?  Does the word incremental have a different meaning in ICM than it does here?

MR. HEALEY:  I believe it does.  I can't fully speak to the definition here, but the term incremental in relation to ICM relates to the threshold itself, is my understanding.

MR. LADANYI:  Could you explain that?  I actually did not understand that.  Could you give it another try, please?

MR. HEALEY:  Certainly.  I am referencing a historic
-- I think it was actually the previous rates application that we had up a moment ago.  So it was the --


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I remember that.

MR. HEALEY:  -- EB-2018-0305.  EGI's reply in that proceeding referenced incremental in the context of the Board's ICM policy plainly refers to incremental to the ICM materiality threshold, not incremental costing for rate recovery.  So I believe that reference was the threshold calculation, itself.

MR. LADANYI:  We will have to address that in argument.

I have a couple of more questions.  And I was going to turn to the transcript of the technical conference, but that is not necessary.  So I just want a few basic questions that I would like to ask you.

For a hypothetical ICM project in 2025, and I know you have not proposed any, would it include indirect overheads in the rate rider?

So your ICM project has a rate rider for which you are going to recover costs from ratepayers.  And would that rate rider include indirect overheads?

MR. HEALEY:  Based on earlier comment, I wasn't assuming when I said that it would include, or just leveraging precedent, historically, that ICM projects would include overhead capitalization.  So, yes.

MR. LADANYI:  So in 2025, remember we are now talking about 2025, the base rates would be 2024 rates escalated by the price gap formula.  You understand that?

MR. HEALEY:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  And they would be already recovering a hundred percent of the indirect overhead costs based on 2024 costs.  So unless there is a huge increase in overhead costs, wouldn't all of these overhead costs already be recovered with base rates, and there would be nothing to recover in the -- through the ICM rate rider?

MR. HEALEY:  The assumption that there is no change in O&M costs -- and bear with me a second as I collect my thoughts.

Logically, the amount included in rates would be recovered and, using the mechanism, we would then increase or inflate costs.

Second to that, and as I reference the wording, ICM would be fully burdened as it attracts those costs.

So, in order to review or to -- what did I say? -- in order to assess that project in its full complement of costs, it would have that burdening component.  So -- certainly, yes.

MS. YAN:  Can I just add?  I think, Mr. Ladanyi, are you asking because the overhead capitalization is included in base rates, if you include overhead in ICM rate rider, that would be duplicative?  Is that what your -- if I --


MR. LADANYI:  That would be my question.  Just --


MS. YAN:  Is that your question?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, and let me clarify it a little bit.

MS. YAN:  Okay.

MR. LADANYI:  So let's talk about regulatory affairs, which is inside the indirect overheads.  And the costs of regulatory affairs are recovered through the indirect overheads such that are going to be in the rate rider, and these costs of regulatory affairs are also going to be recovered in the base rates.

So unless regulatory affairs hires a whole bunch of new people between 2024 and 2025, that all of the costs of regulatory affairs will be already completely recovered by the base rates.

There will be no incremental costs of regulatory affairs to be recovered through the ICM rate rider?

MR. O'LEARY:  I am wondering if I could just briefly speak to Mr. Ladanyi's questions?  I note that from the settlement proposal at page 25, that the parties agreed that the acceptance of overhead capitalized amounts in the ICM projects included in the 2024 opening rate base is without prejudice to the rights of parties to argue in future, including in phase 2 of this proceeding, when the proposed IRM plan is reviewed in any future leave to construct proceedings, that overhead capital amounts should not be included.

So the parties were aware of this concern by Mr. Ladanyi, and it was agreed that it would actually be something that would be dealt with, but no sooner than phase 2.

There aren't any approvals that are sought in this proceeding that would relate to the ICM methodologies and whether or not there are overhead capitalized amounts that are included in it; that is for a future part of this proceeding.

So I just wanted to point out that Mr. Ladanyi's questions, while perhaps appropriate to ask, may not be appropriate for this phase of the proceeding.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. O'Leary, I think this is the occasional challenge we have, where is the bright dividing line between what we are looking at here and what we are looking at in phase 2.

If I understand Mr. Ladanyi's questions, I think he is focused on the mechanics of the capitalization process, not necessarily what happens in relation to ICM in phase 2.  I think if he stays inside that line, it is probably okay to proceed with his question, here.  But I take your point.

So, Mr. Ladanyi, I think Mr. O'Leary has established a bright line.  If you can stay on one side of that line, I think that will help all of us.

And I am just wondering how much more time you need, because we are coming to the end of the day, as well.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I am well aware that I am actually five minutes over.  And these are all my questions.  I will pursue this issue in phase 2, if I have an opportunity.  Thank you, panel.

MR. MORAN:  It looks like you convinced him, Mr. O'Leary, to keep it till phase 2.

MR. O'LEARY:  I wish I could do that every time.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. MORAN:  All right.  Just before we leave, just one matter we wanted to -- the panel wanted to address:  So, at various points in the hearing, intervenors have explored potential outcomes on the issues that we have to decide.  And, in the course of doing so, some intervenors have asked what Enbridge Gas's position would be on the OEB's jurisdiction to implement some of those potential outcomes.  And, as a general principle, of course, parties will recognize that the OEB's jurisdiction will be addressed in submissions in the normal course.

However, some intervenors have expressed some concern that they will not see Enbridge Gas's position on jurisdictional matters until Enbridge Gas files its reply argument at the very end of the proceeding.

So to address this concern, we are going to provide intervenors with an opportunity to make a closing statement in which they can raise the jurisdictional questions that they have, and any other questions relating to proposals they would like Enbridge Gas to address in its argument in chief.

It is not going to be a mandatory requirement.  We recognize that while Enbridge Gas may address such questions in its argument in chief, intervenors will be providing detailed submissions in response to that -- to inventor arguments and -- sorry, to Enbridge's argument in chief.

And, of course, Enbridge Gas will have the right to expand upon or modify any position -- its position in its reply argument.

So any intervenor who wants to take the opportunity to provide a closing statement will have five minutes to do that.  We are going to schedule that to take place this Friday, because it looks like we are on track to finish midday.  And so let Cherida Walter know by Thursday, August 10, by 3:00 p.m., if you want to take advantage of the opportunity.  And then we will set up the hearing schedule on that basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if I could just ask a clarification question --


MR. MORAN:  Of course.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- about the expectation, and I am just hearing this for the first time:  Is the expectation to make a closing statement for the purposes of putting forward a proposal where you want to see, in Enbridge's argument-in-chief, their views with respect to jurisdictional questions?

Or is the expectation that Enbridge would be required to provide more than just the jurisdictional and policy rationale, why they don't agree with it?

MR. MORAN:  I mean, the primary reason for providing the opportunity is in relation to those jurisdictional questions, but we are not limiting it to that.  If you want to go beyond the jurisdictional questions in a brief closing statement to highlight those, to give Enbridge an opportunity to address them in their argument-in-chief, then that's an opportunity that you'll have.  Mr. O'Leary?

MR. O'LEARY:  Well, obviously without knowing what parties are going to submit on Friday, the first thought that comes to mind is that, you know, the argument-in-chief, which is due -- I believe a request has now been made for it to go in a week Friday, but that's only seven days.  And, with the volume of issues, and material, and documentation, and evidence, it becomes a question of whether it is, as a practical matter, something we could respond to in one week with anything that is comprehensive and to the point.

MR. MORAN:  I think we understand that, Mr. O'Leary.  We're not making it mandatory that you have to address it.  We're simply saying to the intervenors that you have an opportunity to sketch out a basic issue on jurisdiction, or otherwise, for Enbridge to hear before you finalize your argument-in-chief.  And, to the extent that you have the opportunity to take that into account in your argument-in-chief, and assist the intervenors ahead of their argument, that opportunity is there for you, as well.

If you don't, so be it.  And, if you do, of course, you have the opportunity to modify and amend whatever high-level argument you might put forward on those issues.

We just wanted to just get some of those ideas out on the table ahead of time, as a way of perhaps making the overall process a bit more efficient.

So I think we understand that you guys are under the gun to get your argument-in-chief finalized.  We're not trying to get a definitive -- we're not requiring you to provide definitive positions on a five-minute statement, because you are going to see a lot more detail.

MR. O'LEARY:  That's my next point, trying to even understand where they're going to go with it in five minutes.

MR. MORAN:  Exactly.  In five minutes, it's going to be high-level.  And, of course, they're going to from have a much more detailed submission later on, and you are going to have an opportunity to give a much more detailed response in your reply argument, as well.

It was just a response to hearing some of the intervenors indicating that they would like to know what your jurisdictional position might be on a couple of issues.  It is just a question.  Let's see how it plays out.  But we don't want to impose anything that works to anybody's disadvantage, here.  It's just a question of whether there is an opportunity for intervenors to identify some key questions ahead of time to assist you in finishing your argument in-chief, knowing that the process isn't yet over at that point.

MR. BROPHY:  Commissioner Moran, just a quick playback to make sure I understand correctly.

So it sound like it's a bit of a completeness kind of checklist, is what I'm going to call it in my mind, just if there are things lingering out there that Enbridge may miss in what they submit.  And they can, you know, use it as such.  And I [audio dropout] beginning of the process, maybe some parties were concerned that they may only respond to some things in reply rather than in argument, which causes issues, obviously.  So this would then, you know, help give Enbridge a bit of a checklist as well, maybe then, to make sure that that doesn't happen and they are not under that criticism.  Does that sound accurate?

MR. MORAN:  I'm not sure that "criticism" would be the right word, but it is more about just giving the intervenors an opportunity to give Enbridge, ahead of their argument in-chief, a bit of a head's up on some key proposals that they plan to pursue in their argument, and some jurisdictional aspects, and try to get some feedback from Enbridge ahead of time.

I suspect, Mr. O'Leary, that, on some of the issues that we've talked about, you are already writing jurisdictional argument on some of that stuff, because there has been a lot of debate it about it.  Some of those issues in relation to E.B.O. 188, for example.  I mean, I'm sure we will see something about that in your argument in-chief.  Whether there are any others beyond that, I guess we'll leave it for intervenors to identify that in their opportunity to make a brief statement at the end of the week.

Okay.  So we are adjourned until tomorrow morning at 9:30.  We'll continue with cross-examination of this panel.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:41 p.m.
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